
PONTIAC CHARTER REVISION COMMISSION 
Chair, Tameka Ramsey 
Vice Chair, Kermit Williams 
Norbert Burrows 
Gill Garrett 
Bryan Killian 
Lucy Payne 
Scott Stewart 
Bruce Turpin 
Jose Ybarra Ill 

The HEART of Oakland County 

47450 Woodward Ave. Pontiac, MI .48342 Phone: (248) 758-3200 Website: http://www.pontiac.mi.us 
Sheila Grandison, MiPMC, Deputy City Clerk 

35th Session 
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA 

April 14, 2024, at 1:00 p.m. 
Meeting Location: City Council Chambers 2nd Floor 

Pontiac City Hall 
47450 Woodward Ave. Pontiac, MI 48342 

I. Call to Order 
II. Roll Call 
III. Authorization to Excuse Commissioners 
IV. Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 
V. Approval of the Minutes 

March 20, 2024 
VI. Public Comment 
VII. Review Correspondence from Governor's Office and Attorney General's Office 
VIII. Closing Comments 
IX. Adjournment 



V. 
Minutes 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

Call to order 

Official Proceedings 
2022 Pontiac Charter Revision Commission 

34th Session 

A Special Meeting of the 2022 Chatter Revision Commission of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order by 
Chair Tameka Ramsey at the City Hall Council Chambers, 47450 Woodward Ave Pontiac, MI 48342 on 
Tuesday, March 20, 2024, at 6:30 p.m. 

Roll Call 

Members Present- Gill Garrett, B1yan Killian, Tameka Ramsey, Kermit Williams, and Jose Ybarra III. 

A quorum was announced. 

Excuse Commissioners 
24-264 Motion to excuse Commissioner Norbert Burrows, Lucy Payne, Scott Stewart, and 
Bruce Turpin for personal reasons. Moved by1 Commissioner Williams and second by Commissioner 
Ybarra III. 

Ayes: Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Williams, and Yban·a III 
No: None 
Motion Canied 

Amendments and or Approval of the Agenda 
24-265 Motion to approve agenda. Moved by Commissioner Williams and second by 
Commissioner Ybarra llI. 

Ayes: Killian, Ramsey, Williams, Yba rn III, and Garrett 
No: None 

Approval of Minutes 
24-266 Motion to approve the minutes for February 22, 2024. Moved by Commissioner 
Williams and second by Commissioner Ybarra III. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Williams, Ybarra III, Garett, and Killian 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Public Comment - None 

Commissioner Norbe1t Burrows arrived at 6:36 p.m. 

Correspondence from Governor's Office and Attorney General's Office 
24-267 Motion to receive and add table of content to the 2024 Proposed Charter. Moved by 
Commissioner Williams and seconded by Commissioner Garrett. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, and Killian 
No: None 
Motion Canied 

1 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

**See table o content as Exhibit A after the minutes** 

24-268 Motion to amend section 2.112-Oath of Office to be consistent with Michigan 
Constitution of 1963 provision. Moved by Commissioner Williams and second by Commissioner Garrett. 

"I do solemn I)' S't¥ear (or affirm) that I will support the Constitution of the United States and of this State 
and the Cha11er of the Cit)' of Pontiac and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of office to the best of 
my abilit)',l do solemnly swear (or affinn) that I will suppott the Constitution of the United States and the 
Constitution of this State, and that I will faithfully discharge the duties of the office of ....... . 
according to the best of my ability." 

Ayes: Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, and Ramsey 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-269 Motion to amend section 3.112 (b)- Ordinance Procedures. Moved by Commissioner 
Williams and second by Commissioner Burrows. 

(b) Upon introduction, the Clerk shall distribute a copy to each Council member and to the Mayor, and 
shall file a reasonable number of copies in the office of the Clerk and such other public places as the 
Council may designate, and shall publish a copy of the ordinance or a summary of the ordinance, 
determined by the Clerk, by means established by ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the 
public in the City together with a notice of the time and place for consideration by the Council. 
Thereafter, the Council may amend and adopt the proposed ordinance without fmther pre-adoption 
publication. 

Ayes: Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, and Ramsey 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-270 Motion to amend section 3.112 (f) - Ordinance Procedures. Moved by Commissioner 
Williams and second by Commissioner Burrows. 

(f) An emergency ordinance, which shall contain a statement of its urgency, must be necessary for the 
immediate preservation of the public peace, propetty, health, safety or for the usual daily operation of a 
depaitment. An emergency ordinance may be adopted on the day it is introduced, publication of a 
summary thereof before adoption is not required, and an emergency ordinance may be given immediate 
effect after posting of a notice of adoption at City Hall and three other public places in the City, as 
determined by the Clerk, who shall maintain a record of the locations of postings. Adoption of an 
emergency ordinance requires an affirmative vote of two-thirds of Council members serving. 

Ayes: Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, and Ramsey 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-271 Motion to amend section 3.112 (j & k)- Ordinance Procedures. Moved by 
Commissioner Williams and second by Commissioner Ybarra III. 

U) A repealed ordinance may not be revised, except by re-enactment of the whole or so much as is 
intended to be revived. When any section or pait of a section of an ordinance is amended, the whole 
section as amended shall be re-enacted. 

2 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

(k) Prosecution for violation of an ordinance of the City shall be commenced within two (2) years after 
the commission of the offense. This limitation only applies to violations penal in nature and is not a 
limitation of the City's right to forfeit any franchise, grant, or license for violation of the terms and 
conditions thereof. 

Ayes: Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, and Williams 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-272 Motion to amend section 3.113 - Transfer of City Property: Contracts. Moved by 
Commissioner Williams, and second by Commissioner Garrett. 

3 .113 Transfer of City Property; Contracts 
The City may not sell, lease, exchange, or in any way dispose of any real property of the City without 
approval, after public notice and hearing by resolution of the Council. The City may not sell any other 
personal prope1ty that may have been defined by ordinances as a minor, without approval by resolution of 
the Council. Nor may the City enter into a contract if there is not a sufficient unencumbered appropriation 
available to discharge fully the City' s obligation thereunder, without approval by the Council. 
The City shall not sell, transfer, or dive11 to any other use park land unless approved by a majority of 
electors. Park land shall include any public park, public recreation area or public playground area owned 
by the City, within the City. 

Ayes: Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Williams, and Ybarra III 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-273 Motion to amend section 3.116- Investigative Powers. Moved by Commissioner 
Williams and seconded by Commissioner Ybarra III. 

3 .116 Investigative Powers 
The Council may subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony, and require the production of 
evidence in any matter pending before it. To enforce a subpoena or order for production of evidence or to 
impose any penalty prescribed for failure to obey a subpoena or order, the Council shall apply to the 
appropriate com1 and/or appropriate board or commission aHd empowered with investigative powers. te 
the appropriate board or eommission 

Ayes: Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Williams, Ybarra III, and Burrows 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Commissioner Scott Stewat1 arrived at 6:40 p.m. 

24-274 Motion to amend section 4.101 (a) - The Mayor. Moved by Commissioner Williams 
and seconded by Commissioner Garrett. 

(a) Shall have established a primary residence in the City for two one years immediately preceding the 
filing deadline for the office and shall maintain a primaty City residence. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Stewa11, Williams, Ybarra III, and Garrett 
No: Killian, and Burrows 
Motion Carried 

3 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

24-275 Motion to amend section 4.202 (h) - Duties of City Attorney. Moved by 
Commissioner Stewart and seconded by Commissioner Williams. 

h) Representing any elective officer or appointee of the City in any action or proceeding involving afiY 
actioA or proceediAg iw,olviAg official duties. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Stewat1, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, and Killian 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-276 Motion to amend section 4.403 - Powers and Duties of Police Chief. Moved by 
Commissioner Stewat1 and seconded by Commissioner Williams. 

4.403 Powers and Duties of Police Chief 
The Chief of Police or contracted law enforcement agency head is responsible for the public safety, peace 
and order and the enforcement of the criminal laws of Michigan and ordinances of the City. by ordiAance. 
Other departments of the City may be given concurrent enforcement jurisdiction for ordinances which 
cover technical fields of municipal operations. The Chief of Police or contracted law enforcement agency 
head shall define the duties of police officers and prescribe rules relative to the perfo1mance thereof. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Stewa11, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, and Killian 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-277 Motion to amend section 5.102 - Mayoral Budget and Appropriation Ordinance. 
Moved by Councilperson Stewat1 and seconded by Commissioner Ybarra III. 

5 .102 Mayoral Budget and Appropriation Ordinance 
At least seventy- five (75) days before the end of each fiscal year, the Mayor shall prepare and submit to 
the Council a proposed annual budget and proposed annual appropriation ordinance for the next fiscal 
year. To assist the Mayor in preparing such budget and ordinance, the depatiments of City government 
shall furnish the Mayor with detailed estimates of expenses, according to a classification which is nearly 
uniform as possible. Proceedings on the proposed budget and the appropriation ordinance and the 
adoption thereof shall be as provided by law. 

Ayes: Stewat1, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, and Ramsey 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-278 Motion to strike section 5.106- Interim Authority. Moved by Commissioner Williams 
and seconded by Commissioner Stewait 

5 .106 Interim Authority 
If City officers fail to satisfy this requirement, the Council, on request in writing from the Mayor, may 
make an appropriation for a department's current m,penses to an amount sufficient to cover the minimum 
necessary expenses of the affected department until the appropriation ordinance is in force, or may 
borrow such money as may be necessary therefor. 

Ayes: Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, and Stewat1 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

4 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

24-279 Motion to amend new section 5.106 - Transfer and Supplemental Appropriations. 
Moved by Commissioner Stewait and second by Commissioner Williams. 

5 .10.'.7-6 Transfers and Supplemental Appropriations 
After adoption of the annual budget and appropriations ordinance, and upon at least one week's notice by 
means established by ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the public, the Council, ts-in an 
ordinance suppo1ted by at least five (5) Council members, may amend such ordinance to authorize the 
transfer of an unused balance appropriated for one purpose to another purpose, or to appropriate available 
revenues not previously appropriated. 

Ayes: Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, and Stewa1t 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-280 Motion to amend section 5.301- Accounting and 5.302 - Payments. Moved by 
Commissioner Williams and second by Commissioner Stewait. 

5.301 Accounting 
Accounts shall be kept by the Finance Depaitment or contracted agency showing all assets and liabilities 
of the City and the financial transactions for all depaitments of the City. The accounts and the forms 
therefore shall conform to any uniform system required by law or ordinance. Financial repo1ts shall be 
prepared for each month, each quaiter, and each fiscal year. Those financial repo1ts shall be provided to 
the Mayor and the Council. 
5.302 Payments 
Payments by the City shall be made only in accordance with procedures prescribed by ordinance. Each 
draft, check, order or warrant shall specify the fund from which it is payable. The Finance Director or 
contracted agency head shall examine all payrolls, bills and other claims and demands against the City, 
except claims for unliquidated damages, and shall make no payment unless the Finance Director finds 
that: (a) the claim is in proper form, correctly computed and duly ce1tified, and justly and legally due and 
payable; (b) an appropriation has been made therefor which has not been exhausted or that the payment 
has been otherwise legally authorized; and (c) there is money in the City treasury to make payment. The 
Finance Director may investigate any claim, and for such purposes, may examine witnesses under oath. If 
the Finance Director finds such bill, claim or demand is fraudulent, erroneous or othe1wise invalid, the 
Finance Director shall not pay without authorization by resolution of the Council. 

Ayes: Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewa1t, and Williams 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-281 Motion to amend section 5.409 - Publication. Moved by Commissioner Stewa1t and 
seconded by Commissioner Williams. 

5.409 Publication 
The City Treasurer shall give notice m .1! by means established by ordinance to achieve widespread 
dissemination to the public for six (6) business days immediately preceding July 1 that: (a) City prope1ty 
taxes may be paid at any time through August 31 without any collection fee therefor, and (b) an additional 
charge (and the amount thereof) will be made on September 1 and on the first day of each succeeding 
month during which taxes remain unpaid until return to the County Treasurer. Failure to give this notice 
shall not invalidate the tax, nor release the persons or prope1ty assessed from the penalty. 

Ayes: Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewait, Williams, and Ybarra III 

5 

+-



March 20, 2024, Draft 

No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-282 Motion to amend section 5.411- School and County Taxes. Moved by Councilperson 
Williams and seconded by Commissioner Stewati. 

5.411 School and County Taxes 
On November 1, as provided by ordinance and in accordance with law, the City's Assessor shall spread 
upon the assessment roll as all school and county taxes, certified by the Board of Commissioners or 
otherwise, and such other taxes as are legally required to be spread on the roll. 

Ayes: Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewatt, Williams, Ybarra III, and Burrows 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-283 Motion to amend section 5.416 - Applicable Law. Moved by Commissioner Stewatt 
and second by Commissioner Garrett. 

5.416 Applicable Law 
General Law shall govern the assessing, levying, eolleetion and return of taxes exeept as otherwise 
provided b;• this Charter. The assessment, levy, collection and return of taxes shall be governed 
consistent with this Chatter and law. 

Ayes: Killian, Ramsey, Stewatt, Williams, Ybarra ill, Burrows, and Garrett 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-284 Motion to amend section 6.101- Affirmative Action Non-Discrimination. Moved by 
Commissioner Stewatt and second by Commissioner Ybarra III. 

6.101 Affirmative Aetion Non-Discrimination 
City government shall provide equal oppo1tunity in employment for all persons; prohibit discrimination in 
employment because of race, color, religion, sex, age, national origin, handicap, marital status, sexual 
orientation, height, or weight. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Stewatt, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, and Killian 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-285 Motion to amend section 6.106 - Conflict oflnterest. Moved by Commissioner 
Stewait and second by Commissioner Garrett. Discussion. Commissioner Stewait rescinded his motion 
and Commissioner Garrett rescinded his second. New motion to amend section 6.106 - Conflict of 
Interest. Moved by Commissioner Williams and second by Commissioner Killian. 

6.106 Conflict of Interest 
Except as otherwise required by law: 
(1) An elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a conflict between personal interest and the 
public interest as defined by law, this Chatter, or ordinance shall disclose fully to the City Attorney the 
nature of the conflict, who shall provide the Mayor, City Council, and the Office of Public Integrity with 
a summary of the stated conflict. Except as provided by law or ordinance, no elective officer, appointee, 

6 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

or employee of the City may pa1ticipate in or act upon or vote upon any matter if a conflict of interest 
exists. The City Cmmeil shall adopt an ordinanee p1w,1iding for penalties for violation of this seetion. 
(2) Any elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a 1 % financial interest, direct or indirect eF--by 
reason of ovmership of a I% amount of stoek in any eorporation, in any contract with the City or in the 
sale of any land, materials, supplies or services to the City or to a contractor supplying the City, shall 
make known that interest and shall refrain from voting upon or otherwise participating as an elective 
officer, appointee, or employee in the making or performance of the contract or sale. 

(3) Violation of this subseetion 1Nith the knowledge, e~,press or implied, of the person or eorporation 
eontraeting ·Nith or making a sale to the City shall render the eontraet or sale voidable by the Mayor or the 
Couneil. 

(b) An elective City officer or an appointee who is a relative of an applicant for employment by the City 
being the individual ' s parent, grandparent, child, grandchild, sibling, or spouse thereof, shall immediately 
be disqualified from , and shall not pa1ticipate in any way in, the hiring process for that applicant. After 
complaint made by any City resident, referred to the Office of Public Integrity, and, if litigated, it is 
determined by a comt of competent jurisdiction, that, in the hiring of any person, this provision was 
violated, the employment of such person shall be a nullity, and such violation shall be cause for a recall or 
dismissal of the City officer or appointee involved. Further, a City offieer or appointee violating this 
provision is guilty ofa misdemeanor sub:jeetto a fine of $500.00, or imprisonment of90 days or both. 
The City Council shall adopt an ordinance providing for penalties for violation of this section. 

(e) No eleefr,e offieer shall hold any appointive position, v,•hieh \Yas ereated or tile eompensatton for 
whieh 1,1i1as fixed or inereased during his or her ineumbeney, until one year after sueh person's leaving 
offi€&: 

Ayes: Stewa1t, Williams, Ybarra Ill, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, and Ramsey 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-286 Motion to amend section 6.403 - Referendum. Moved by Commissioner Williams and 
seconded by Commissioner Burrows. 

6.403 Referendum 
No ordinance, except an emergency ordinance, shall take effect before 10 days after adoption. If, within 
these 10 days, 500 registered electors of the City file with the Clerk a notice in writing of their intention 
to circulate a petition for referring the ordinance to the electors for their adoption or rejection, then the 
ordinance does not become effective until 20 days after its adoption. If, within these 20 days, petitions 
containing the number of signatures required by this Cha1ter are not filed in accordance with such written 
notice, the ordinance shall become effective upon the expiration of the 20-day period. If, within the 20 
days, however, petitions protesting the ordinance signed by registered electors of the City equal in 
number to at least 10% of the electors voting at the preceding City presidential election are presented to 
the Council, the ordinance is suspended from taking effect. The Council shall immediately reconsider the 
ordinance. If the ordinance is not entirely repealed, the Council shall submit it to an electoral vote at the 
next scheduled election in the City, and the ordinance shall not take effect unless approved by a majority 
of the registered electors voting thereon. These referendum provisions do not apply to: 
(a) an ordinance required, or exempted from referendum, by law or this Chatter; 
(b) an emergency ordinance: however, grant of a franchise may not be deemed an emergency ordinance. 

Ayes: Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewait, Williams, and Ybarra III 
No: None 

7 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

Motion Carried 

24-287 Motion to amend section 6.406 - Publication, renumber section 6.408 - State Law to 
apply, and section 6.409- Effect of Vote. Moved by Commissioner Williams and seconded by 
Commissioner Sewa11. 
6.406 Publication 
Whenever an ordinance is required to be submitted to an electoral vote, the Council shall have the 
ordinance published by the City Clerk by means established by ordinance to achieve widespread 
dissemination to the public -m each week for two (2) successive weeks immediately preceding the 
election. 
6.4087 State Law to Apply 
The form of petition and the conduct of the electoral vote for initiative and referendum measures shall, as 
near as may be, be the same as that provided by law for exercise of initiative and referendum by State 
electors. 
6.4098 Effect of Vote 
An ordinance approved by electoral vote shall not thereafter be repealed or amended by the Council for 
18 months, except by electoral vote. 

Ayes: Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewa1t, Williams, and Burrows 
No: None 
Motion Carried 
Commissioner Ybarra III was absent for the vote. 

24-287 Motion to amend section 6.513 -Restrictions on Transfer of Municipality Owned 
Utilities. Moved by Commissioner Williams and seconded by Commissioner Stewa11. 

6.513 Restrictions on Transfer of Municipality Owned Utilities 
The City may make a contract to purchase, operate and maintain any public utility property for supplying 
heat, light, power, or water to the City and its inhabitants. No contract to sell or transfer aoo f! City utility 
shall bind the City unless a proposition therefore receives the affirmative vote of 3/5 of the electors voting 
thereon at a regular or special election. 

Ayes: Killian, Ramsey, Stewatt, Williams, Burows, and Garrett 
No: None 
Motion Carried 
Commissioner Ybarra III was absent for the vote. 

24-288 Motion to amend 6.701- Severability. Moved by Commissioner Williams and 
seconded by Commissioner Stewa1t. 

6.701 Severability 
If any provision of this Chatter ef or the application thereof to any person or circumstance is held invalid, 
the invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of the Chatter. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Stewatt, Williams, Burrows, Garrett, and Killian 
No: None 
Motion Carried 
Commissioner Ybarra III was absent for the vote. 

24-289 Motion to amend section 6.802 (d)-Establishment and Purpose. Moved by 
Commissioner Williams and second by Commissioner Stewait. 

8 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

6.802 Establishment and Purpose 
(d) All boards and commissions existing at the time of the adoption of this Cha11er shall be continued and 
the members serving thereon shall remain in office for the duration of the term for ·.vhich they were 
appointed. All boards and commissions not provided for in this Charter are dissolved. 

Ayes: Ramsey, Stewai1, Williams, Burrows, Garrett, and Killian 
No: None 
Abstain: Ybarra III 
Motion Carried 

24-290 Motion to amend section 6.805 (c) - Powers and Responsibilities. Moved by 
Commissioner Stewai1 and seconded by Commissioner Williams. 

6.805 Powers and Responsibilities 
( c) The Council reserves the right to dissolve or modify the powers and responsibilities of any board or 
commission as provided by establishing ordinances subject to this Charter. 

Ayes: Stewai1, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, and Ramsey 
No: None 
Motion Carried 
Commissioner Killian was absent for the vote. 

24-291 Motion to amend section 6.808- Youth Commission. Moved by Commissioner Garrett 
and seconded by Commissioner Stewai1. 

6.808 Youth Commission 
The Council may establish a Youth Commission by ordinance for individuals between 13-18 years old at 
time of appointment. ·.vith appointees 1+Yith two (2) year 2024 Proposed Cha11er 38 terms eligible for 
reappointment. The purpose of the Youth Commission may be to discuss policy issues that affect youth in 
the City, inclusive of identif)·ing a youth policy platform, and identif)·ing leadership pathv,·ays for youth 
in City government. Formal roles on the Youth Commission will be rotated every tv.·o (2) years. 

Ayes: Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Ramsey, and Stewa11 
No: Williams 
Motion Carried 
Commissioner Killian was absent for the vote. 

24-292 Motion to keep section 6.809 as is. Moved by Commissioner Stewa11 and seconded by 
Commissioner Williams. 

Ayes: Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Ramsey, and Stewat1 
No: None 
Motion Carried 
Commissioner Killian was absent for the vote. 

24-293 Motion to amend sections 7.101, 7.102, 7.102(d), and 7.105. Moved by Commissioner 
Williams and seconded by Commissioner Stewait 

7.101 Ethical Standards of Conduct 
These standards of conduct apply to public servants including the Mayor, Council members, appointive 
officers, appointees, employees and contracted entities and their employees working on behalf of the City, 

9 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

as defined in this Chatter. The purpose of applying and enforcing these standards is to ensure that 
governmental decisions are made in the public's best interest by prohibiting City officials and employees 
from paiticipating in matters that impact their personal or financial interests. 
All City ordinances not inconsistent with these sections and that effectuate its operation may be retained. 
Ordinances may be enacted which are necessaty to effectuate the operation of these sections. No 
ordinance shall be enacted which limits, contradicts, or otherwise conflicts with the intent and purpose of 
these sections. Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL § 15 .328, a public servant 
shall not knowingly: 

7.102 Disclosures 
Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL § 15.328, a public servant shall disclose: 
a. Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an immediate family member has in any contract 
or matter pending before Council; 
b. Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an immediate family member has in any contract 
or matter pending before or within any office, depa1tment, or agency of the City; 
c. Any interest that they, or an immediate family member has in real and personal prope11y that is subject 
to a decision by the City regarding purchase, sale, lease, zoning, improvement, special designation tax 
assessment or abatement or a development agreement; 
d. Campaign contributions and expenditures, regarding City proposals or City elections, in accordance 
with applicable laws; or 
e. The identity of any immediate family member employed by the City or who is making application to 
the City. 
In addition to compliance with the above section, contractors and vendors shall disclose: 
a. The identity of all entities and persons with any financial interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or 
matter the vendor or contractor has pending before Council; and 
b. The identity of all entities and persons with any financial interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or 
matter the vendor or contractor has pending before or within any office, depa11ment or agency of the City. 
The above disclosures shall be made in writing and be made by sworn, notarized affidavit, in accordance 
with City ordinance and applicable laws. 

7.105 One Year Post-Employment Prohibition 
Subject to law, including MCL § 15.328, for one (1) year after employment with the City, a public servant 
shall not lobby or appear before the Council or any City 2024 Proposed Chatter 42 depa11ment, agency, 
board, commission, or body or receive compensation for any services in connection with any matter in 
which he or she was directly concerned, personally pa1ticipated, actively considered or acquired 
knowledge while working for the City. Subject to law, for a period of one (1) year after employment with 
the City, a public servant shall not accept employment with any person or company that did business with 
the City during the fotmer public servant's tenure if that public servant was in any way involved in the 
award or management of that contract or the employment would require the sharing of confidential 
information. 

Ayes: Ybarra III, Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewatt, and Williams 
No: None 
Motion Carded 

24-294 Motion to amend section 7.106-Contracts Voidable and Rescindable. Moved by 
Commissioner Williams and seconded by Commissioner Garrett. 

7 .106 Contracts Voidable and Rescindable 
The City shall include language in its standard contract forms which provides that City contracts shall be 
voidable or rescindable at the discretion of the Mayor and Council at any time if a public servant who is a 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

party to the contract has an interest in such contract and fails to disclose such interest. Such contract shall 
also be voidable or rescindable if a lobbyist or employee of the contracting party offers a prohibited gift, 
gratuity, honoraria, or payment to a public servant. in relations to the contract. If applicable, the actions of 
the contractor, and its representative lobb)·ist or employee, shall be refe1i-ed to the appropriate prosecuting 
authorities. 

Ayes: Burrows, Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewa11, Williams, and Ybarra III 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-295 Motion to strike section 7.202(d) -Appointment Removal, Term of Office, and 
Vacancy. Moved by Commissioner Garrett and seconded by Commissioner Ybarra III. 

7.202 Appointment, Removal, Term of Office, and Vacancy 
a. The Public Integrity Officer shall be appointed by a majority of Council members with concurrence of 
the Mayor in writing within 5 days of Council approval serving for a te1m of six (6) years. 
b. The Public Integrity Officer may be removed for cause by a three-fomths (3/4) vote of Council 
members serving. The Public Integrity Officer may only be removed from the office for cause, as outlined 
in Section 6 .108. 
c. If a vacancy occurs in the Office of Public Integrity, the Council shall, within ninety (90) days, fill the 
office for a full term. 
d. This position is subject to recall provisions as outlined in this City Charter 

Ayes: Garrett, Killian, Ramsey, Stewa11, Williams, Ybarra III, and Burrows 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

Chair Ramsey left the meeting at 8:40 p.m. Vice Chair Williams assumed over the meeting. 

24-296 Motion to amend section 2.102 - Elections. Moved by Commissioner Stewai1 and 
second by Commissioner Garrett. 

2.102 Elections 
Regular City primary and general elections shall be held on the same date as regular state gubernatorial 
primary and general elections. After the effective date of this Charter, the City Council shall consider a 
resolution changing the date of regular City primary and general elections to the same date as regular state 
gubernatorial primary and general elections in accordance with Michigan Election Lavi, MCL § 168.612a 
(1) and MCL § 168.612(7)(a)(ii). The City Council shall, prior to consideration of the resolution, hold at 
least one public hearing on the proposed resolution in accordance 1Nith MCL § 168.612(7)(b) and the City 
Council shall give a public notice provided in a manner designed to reach the largest number of City 
qualified electors in a timely fashion in accordance with MCL § 168.612(7)(c). After adoption by tile City 
Council of the resolution, the City Council shall file a ce11ified copy of the resolution with the Michigan 
Secretary of State in accordance 1+¥ith MCL § l 68.612(7)(e). City elections shall occur in accordance with 
state and federal law. City elections are non-pa11isan. If the regular election date for holding a 
jurisdictions regular election has changed in accordance with the Michigan Election Law, the term of an 
official who was elected before the effective date of the change continues until its successor is elected and 
qualified at the next regular election. 

Ayes: Killian, Stewai1, Williams, Ybarra III, and Garrett 
No: None 
Abstain: Burrows 
Motion Carried 

11 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

Commissioner Garrett left the meeting at 8:51 p.m. 

24-297 Motion to amend section 9.l0l(b)- Electoral Vote and Effective Date. Moved by 
Commissioner Stewatt and seconded by Commissioner Ybarra III. 
9.101 Electoral Vote and Effective Date 
(a) This Chatter shall be submitted to the people of Pontiac for adoption at a special election to be held on 
August 6, 2024. 
(b) If this Chatter is adopted, this Charter shall take effect on Jttly 1, 2025 . April I, 2025. 
( c) Council and the Mayor serving in office under the previous Chatter shall continue to serve under this 
Chatter for their entire previously elected four 2024 Proposed Chatter 50 (4) year term, with the 
provisions for these elective offices taking effect for the next regular City election after adoption. 

Ayes: Stewatt, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, and Killian 
No: None 
Motion Carried 

24-298 Resolution to adopt the 2024 Proposed Charter. Moved by Commissioner Stewart and 
seconded by Commissioner Ybarra III. 

At a special meeting of the City of Pontiac Chatter Commission held on March 20, 2024, the following 
resolution was offered by chatter Commissioner Stewatt and seconded by Commissioner Ybarra III. 
RESOLVED that the City of Pontiac Chatter Commission hereby adopts the proposed new 2024 Chatter 
for the City of Pontiac presented at its meeting (subject to editorial changes, including grammar, 
punctuation, numbering, etc.) and the Commission's attorney is directed to transmit a copy of this chatter 
to the Governor of the State of Michigan for her approval and the office of the Attorney General in 
accordance with State law. 
IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED THAT: 

(I) A copy of the proposed Chatter shall be filed with the City Clerk; 

(2) Copies of the proposed Charter shall be distributed to the Oakland County Clerk, the Mayor, and 
the City Council; and 

(3) The City Clerk and the County Clerk shall be and hereby are requested to submit the proposed 
Charter to a vote of the qualified electors of the City at the general election to be held on 
Tuesday, August 6, 2024, with the following question: 

Shall the 2024 City Chatter proposed by the Pontiac Chatter Revision Commission be 
adopted? 

Yes - ---

No ----

( 4) This proposed Chatter shall be published online and in accordance with State law and copies 
made available at the City Clerk's office. 

Ayes: Stewatt, Williams, Ybarra III, Burrows, and Killian 
No: None 
Resolution Passed 

12 



March 20, 2024, Draft 

Closing Comments - Commissioner Ybarra III, Commissioner Killian, and Commissioner Burrows 
made closing comments. 

Adjournment 
Vice Chair Kermit Williams adjourned the meeting at 9:04 p.m. 

Sheila R. Grandison 
Deputy City Clerk 

13 



VII. 
Review 

Correspondence 



City of Pontiac Charter Commission 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT PROPOSED CHARTER 

At a special meeting of the City of Pontiac Charter Commission held on April---, 2024, the 
following resolution was offered by Charter Commissioner------ and seconded by 
Commissioner --------. 

RESOLVED that the City of Pontiac Cha1ier Commission hereby adopts the proposed new 2024 
Chatier for the City of Pontiac presented at its meeting (subject to editorial changes, including 
grammar, punctuation, numbering, etc.) in place of the charter adopted on February 10, 2024, 
and on March 21, 2024, and the Commission's attorney is directed to transmit a copy of this 
Chatier to the Governor of the State of Michigan for her approval and to the office of the 
Attorney General in accordance with State law. 

IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED THAT: 

(1) A copy of the proposed Charter shall be filed with the City Clerk; 

(2) Copies of the proposed Chatier shall be distributed to the Oakland County Clerk, 
the Mayor, and City Council; and 

(3) The City Clerk and the County Clerk shall be and hereby are requested to submit the 
proposed Charter to a vote of the qualified electors of the City at the election to be 
held on Tuesday, August 6, 2024, with the following question: 

Shall the 2024 City Chatier proposed by the Pontiac Charter Revision 
Commission be adopted? 

Yes 

No ---

(4) This proposed Chater shall be published on line and in accordance with State law 
and copies made available at the City Clerk's office. 

This resolution is adopted by the following vote: 



2024 Proposed Charter 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PREAMBLE .............................................................................................................................................................. 1 

ARTICLE I - GENERAL PROVISIONS .............................................................................................................. 1 

1.101 City Government ......................................................................................................... 1 

1.102 Boundaries ................................................................................ .. .................................. 1 

1.103 General Powers ................................................................................................ ........... 1 

1.104 Strong Mayor Plan ..................................................................................................... 1 

ARTICLE II - ELECTIONS ................................................................................................................................... 1 

2.101 Elective Officers .......................................................................................................... 1 

2.102 Elections ............................................................................................ .. .......................... 2 

2.103 Voters .............................................................................................................................. 2 

2.104 Conduct of Elections .................................................................................................. 2 

2.105 Election Commission ................................................................................................ 2 

2.106 Electoral Districts and Re-Apportionment.. ..................................................... 3 

2.107 Candidates for Nomination ...... .. ............................................................................ 3 

2.108 Primary Election ..................................... .. ............................................. ..................... 3 

2.109 Nomination and Election ......................................................................................... 3 

2.110 Recall ............................................................................................................................... 3 

2.111 Effect of Recall ............................................................................................................. 4 

2.112 Oath ofOffice ................................................................................................................ 4 

ARTICLE III - LEGISLATIVE BRANCH ........................................................................................................... 4 

Chapter 1 - Council ................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.101 Local Legislature ........................................................................................................ 4 

3.102 District Representation; Term of Office ............................................................ 4 

3.103 Beginning of Term ................. : ................................................................................... 5 



2024 Proposed Charter 

3.104 Organizational Meeting ............................................................................................ 5 

3.105 Meetings ......................................................................................................................... 5 

3.106 Public Access; Rules ................................................................................. ................. 6 

3.107 Quorum .......................................................................................................................... 6 

3.108 Voting ........................................................... .. ................................................................. 6 

3.109 Council Action .............................................................................................................. 6 

3.110 Compensation .......................................... .................................................................... 6 

3.111 Appointment of Clerk ............................................................................................... 6 

3.112 Ordinance Procedure ................................................................................................ 6 

3.113 Transfer of City Property; Contracts .................................................................. 8 

3.114 Staff .................................................................................................................................. 8 

3.115 Relations with Executive Branch ......................................................................... 9 

3.116 Investigative Powers ................................................................................................. 9 

3.117 Vacancies ....................................................................................................................... 9 

3.118 Effect of Absences ...................................................................................................... 9 

3.119 Control of City Payroll .............................................................................................. 9 

3.120 Bonds ........................................................... .... ............................................................... 9 

Chapter 2 - City Clerk .. ..................................................................................... ' .................................. 10 

3.201 Functions and Duties of the Clerk. ..................................................................... 10 

3.202 Chief Assistant Clerk ............................................................................................... 10 

Chapter 3 - Department of Council ............................................ ................................................... 10 

3.301 Establishment and Purpose .... ............................................................................. 10 

3.302 Department Head and Staff .................................................................................. 11 

3.303 Duties and Responsibilities .................................................................................. 11 

3.304 Accountability and Cooperation ........................................... : ................... .......... 11 

ii 



2024 Proposed Charter 

3.305 Funding ........................................................................................................................ 11 

ARTICLE IV - EXECUTIVE BRANCH ............................................................................................................. 12 

Chapter 1- Mayor ................................................................................................................................ 12 

4.101 The Mayor ................................................................................................................... 12 

4.102 Duties of the Mayor ................................................................................................. 12 

4.103 Deputy Mayor ............................................................................................................ 12 

4.104 Relations with Council ........................................................................................... 13 

4.105 Staff of the Office of Mayor ................................................................................... 13 

4.106 Appointment of Department Heads; Failure to Act on 
Appointments ............................................................................................................ 13 

4.107 Duties ofDepartmentHeads ................................................................................ 14 

4.108 Succession to Office ................................................................................................. 14 

Chapter 2 - City Attorney .................................................................................................................. 14 

4.201 City Attorney .............................................................................................................. 14 

4.202 Duties of City Attorney ........................................................................................... 14 

4.203 Settlements ................................................................................................................. 15 

4.204 Option of Council ...................................................................................................... 15 

Chapter 3 - Finance Department .................................................................................................... 15 

4.301 Finance Department. ............................................................................................... 15 

4.302 Treasurer ..................................................................................................................... 16 

4.303 Purchasing Division ....................................................... .. .......................... .............. 16 

4.304 Centralized Purchasing; Competitive Bidding .............................................. 16 

4.305 Restrictions on Purchases ..................................................................................... 16 

4.306 Duties of Purchasing Agent .................................................................................. 16 

4.307 Assessment Division, City Assessor, or Assessment Services ................. 16 

iii 



2024 Proposed Charter 

4.308 Assessor's Duties ...................................................................................................... 16 

Chapter 4 - Police Department ................ ....................................................................................... 17 

4.401 Police Department (Police Services) ................................................................ 17 

4.402 Powers and Duties ................................................................................................... 17 

4.403 Powers and Duties of Police Chief ..................................................................... 17 

4.404 Citizens Review Board ........................................................... .. .............................. 17 

Chapter 5 - Fire Protection Services ............................................................................................. 17 

4.501 Fire Department (Fire Protection Services) .................................................. 17 

4.502 Emergency Power .................................................................................................... 18 

4.503 Powers of Fire Chief ................................................................................................ 18 

Chapter 6 - Remainder of the Executive Branch ...................................................................... 18 

4.601 Other Departments .................................................................................................. 18 

4.602 Assignment of Administrative Functions ....................................................... 18 

4.603 Initial Continuation of Departments, Boards and Commissions ............ 18 

ARTICLE V - FINANCIAL PROCEDURES .......................................................................... .. ........................ 19 

Chapter 1- Budget .......................................................................................................... .. ................... 19 

5.101 Fiscal Year ................................................................................................................... 19 

5.102 Mayoral Budget and Appropriation Ordinance ............................................ 19 

5.103 Veto ............................................................................ .. ........................ .. ........................ 19 

5.104 Budget to Be Balanced ............................................................................................ 19 

5.105 Budgetto BeAdopted ............................................................................................. 19 

5.106 Transfers and Supplemental Appropriations ............................................... 20 

Chapter 2 - Taxation and Special Assessments ........................................................................ 20 

5.201 Property Tax Levy .................................................................................................... 20 

5.202 Other Revenue .......................................... ................................................................. 20 

iv 



2024 Proposed Charter 

5.203 Duties of Clerk ........................................................................................................... 20 

5.204 Lien ................................................................................................................................ 20 

5.205 Tax Limits .................................................................................................................... 20 

5.206 Special Assessment Financing ............................................................................. 21 

5.207 Limits on Incurring Obligations .......................................................................... 21 

Chapter 3 - Accounting Controls and Audits ............................................................................. 21 

5.301 Accounting .................................................................................................................. 21 

5.302 Payments ..................................................................................................................... 21 

5.303 Cash Management .................................................................................................... 22 

5.304 Establishing Funds ................................................................................................... 22 

5.305 Annual Independent Audit ................................................................................... 22 

Chapter 4 -Assessment of Taxes ................................................................................................... 22 

5.401 Assessment of Property; Subject of Taxation ................................................ 22 

5.402 Board of Review ........................................................................................................ 22 

5.403 Correction of Errors ................................................................................................ 23 

5.404 Meetings of Board Review .................................................................................... 23 

5.405 Board's Completion of Roll ................................................................................... 23 

5.406 Equalization ................................................................................................................ 23 

5.407 City Property Taxes ................................................................................................. 24 

5.408 Due Date ....................................................................................................................... 24 

5.409 Publication ..................... .. ........................ .. ................................................................. 24 

5.410 Liens .................................. .. .......................................................................................... 24 

5.411 School and County Taxes ....................................................................................... 24 

5 .412 Receipt of Roll by Treasurer ................................................................................ 24 

5.413 Notice of Other Taxes Due .................................................................................... 24 

V 



2024 Proposed Charter 

5.414 Collection of Taxes ................................................................................................... 25 

5.415 Payment to School Board and County ........................................................ .. .... 25 

5.416 Applicable Law .......................................................................................................... 25 

5.417 Part Payment ...................................................................................... ....................... 25 

5.418 Fees and Penalties .................................................................................................... 25 

5.419 Records ofOwnership ............................................................................................ 25 

Chapter 5 - Bonds ................................................................................................................................. 26 

5.501 Borrowing Authority .............................................................................................. 26 

5.502 Purpose of Bonds ..................................................................................................... 26 

5.503 Bond Issuance ............................................................................................................ 26 

5.504 Providing for Principal and Interest.. ............................................................... 26 

5.505 Special Assessment Borrowing ........................................................................... 26 

Chapter 6 - Special Assessments .................................................................................................... 26 

5.601 Power Granted .......................................................................................................... 26 

5.602 Petition by Owners .................................................................................................. 26 

5.603 Council Resolution for Special Assessment ................................................... 27 

5.604 Procedure by Ordinance ................................................................... ..................... 27 

5.605 Liens ...................................................................................... ........................................ 27 

ARTICLE VI - GENERAL PROVISIONS ......................................................................................................... 27 

Chapter 1 - Personnel Matters ....... .. ............... .. .............................................................................. 2 7 

6.101 Non-Discrimination ................................................................................................. 27 

6.102 Employee Serving in Management .................................................................... 28 

6.103 Local Officers' Compensation Commission .................................................... 28 

6.104 Vacancy ........................................................................................................................ 28 

6.105 Filling of Vacancies ............................................................ .. .................................... 28 

vi 



2024 Proposed Charter 

6.106 Conflict of Interest ................................................................................................... 28 

6.107 Retirement Plans ...................................................................................................... 29 

6.108 Removal for Cause ................................................................................................... 29 

Chapter 2 - Specific Powers and Miscellaneous Provisions ................................................ 29 

6.201 Enabling Legislation ................................................................................................ 29 

6.202 Rents, Tolls, Excises and Taxes ........................................................................... 30 

6.203 Eminent Domain ....................................................................................................... 30 

6.204 Penalties .................................................. ... ...... ...... ..................................................... 30 

6.205 Subsequent Grade Changes .................................................................................. 30 

6.206 Definitions ................................................................................................................... 30 

Chapter 3 - Rule Making .................................................................................................................... 30 

6.301 Administrative Rules .............................................................................................. 30 

6.302 Emergency Rules .. ............................................................................... ..................... 31 

Chapter 4 - Initiative and Referendum ........................................................................................ 31 

6.401 Initiative ....................................................................................................................... 31 

6.402 Duties of Council and Petitions ......................... ............... ................................... 31 

6.403 Referendum ................................................................................................................ 31 

6.404 Powers of Council. .................................................................................................... 32 

6.405 Conflicting Provisions ............................................................................................. 32 

6.406 Publication .................................................................................................................. 32 

6.407 State Law to Apply ................................................................................................... 32 

6.408 Effect of Vote .............................................................................................................. 32 

Chapter 5 - Franchises, Licenses and Permits; Municipal Utilities ................................... 32 

6.501 Occupancy or Use by Private Concern ............................................................. 32 

6.502 Limitations on Grant ............................................................................................... 33 

vii 



2024 Proposed Charter 

6.503 Revocable Permits ................................................................................................... 33 

6.504 Manner of Grant ........................................................................................................ 33 

6.505 Electoral Approval ................................................................................................... 33 

6.506 Expenses of Certain Special Elections .............................................................. 33 

6.507 Exclusivity Prohibited ............................................................................................ 33 

6.508 Restrictions on Transfer ........................................................................................ 33 

6.509 Restriction on Modifications ................................................................................ 33 

6.510 Subordinate to Police Power ............................................................................... 34 

6.511 Co-Occupancy ............................................................................................................ 34 

6.512 Compensation to City .............................................................................................. 34 

6.513 Restrictions on Transfer of Municipality Owned Utilities ........................ 34 

Chapter 6 - Separately Incorporated Bodies ............................................................................. 34 

6.601 Authorities or Other Agencies Separately Incorporated .......................... 34 

6.602 Conflicts Prohibited ................................................................................................. 34 

Chapter 7 - Rules of lnterpretation ......................................................................... .. .................... 35 

6.701 Severability ................................................................................................................. 35 

6.702 Number or Gender ................................................................................................... 35 

6.703 Tense ............................................................................................................................. 35 

Chapter 8 - Boards and Commissions .......................................................................................... 35 

6.801 Public Engagement Philosophy .......................................................................... 35 

6.802 Establishment and Purpose ................................................................................. 35 

6.803 Composition ............................................................................................................... 36 

6.804 Terms of Office .......................................................................................................... 36 

6.805 Powers and Responsibilities ................................................................................ 37 

6.806 Meetings and Procedures ...................................................................................... 37 

viii 



2024 Proposed Charter 

6.807 Accountability, Reporting, and Transparency .............................................. 37 

6.808 Youth Commission ................................................................................................... 37 

6.809 Charter Review Board ............................................................................................ 38 

ARTICLE VII - ETHICS AND PUBLIC INTEGRITY ................................................................................... 38 

Chapter 1 - General Ethical Standards ......................................................................................... 38 

7.101 Ethical Standards of Conduct... ............................................................................ 38 

7.102 Disclosures .................................................................................................................. 40 

7.103 Lobbying Registration and Reporting .............................................................. 41 

7.104 Gifts and Gratuities .................................................................................................. 41 

7.105 One Year Post-Employment Prohibition ......................................................... 42 

7.106 Contracts Voidable and Rescindable ................................................................ 42 

7.107 Campaign Activities ................................................................................................. 42 

Chapter 2 - Office of Public Integrity .......................................................................................... ..42 

7.201 Establishment of Office .......................................................................................... 42 

7.202 Appointment, Removal, Term of Office, and Vacancy ................................ 43 

7.203 Minimum Qualifications ........................................................................................ 43 

7.204 Limitations; Prohibited Activities ...................................................................... 43 

7.205 Powers and Duties; Jurisdiction ......................................................................... 44 

7.206 Independence; Retaliation, Confidentiality, and Immunity ..................... 45 

7.207 Funding; Office Staffing .......................................................................................... 45 

7.208 Reporting and Transparency; Consultation Required ............................... 46 

Chapter 3 - Board of Ethics .............................................................................................................. 46 

7.301 Board of Ethics Creation and Membership ................................................... .46 

7.302 Member Appointment, Terms, and Removals .............................................. 46 

7.303 Rules and Procedures ............................................................................................. 47 

ix 



2024 Proposed Charter 

7.304 Powers and Duties ................................................................................................... 47 

7.305 Board of Ethics Funding .............. .......................................................................... 48 

ARTICLE VIII - TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS ........................................................................................ ..48 

8.101 Effect on Existing City Legislation ..................................................................... 48 

8.102 Continuation of Public and Private Rights ...................................................... 48 

8.103 Rights and Liabilities Continued ........................................................................ 48 

8.104 Rights of Officers and Employees ...................................................................... 49 

8.105 Successor Officers .................................................................................................... 49 

8.106 Amendments and Revisions ................................................................................ .49 

8.107 Compensation ............................................................................................................ 49 

8.108 Headings ... ................................................................................................................... 49 

8.109 Transitional Provision ............................................................................................ 49 

ARTICLE IX - SCHEDULE ................................................................................................................................. 49 

9.101 Electoral Vote and Effective Date ...................................................................... .49 

9.102 Ballot Question .................................... .. .................................................................... 50 

X 



2024 Proposed Charter 

PREAMBLE 

We, the people of the City of Pontiac, adopt this Charter to protect our rights and to 
promote a just, honorable and efficient government. 

The City of Pontiac is a City with a strong history, settled in 1818 and formally incorporated 
in 1861. As with previous charters for this historic City, the citizens have forged this 
Charter to ensure our great City of Pontiac thrives for many generations of current and 
future residents. 

ARTICLE I 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

1.101 City Government 
The people of the City of Pontiac hereby provide for the establishment and 
continuation of their municipal government as set forth in this home rule Charter 
and as provided by law. 

1.102 Boundaries 
The boundaries of the City when this Charter takes effect shall continue unchanged 
until changed in accordance with state law. 

1.103 General Powers 
The City possesses the home rule powers and all other powers conferred by the 
Michigan Constitution of 1963 and provided at law. The specific mention of a 
particular power in the Charter shall not be construed as limiting in any way these 
general powers. These powers shall be liberally interpreted and construed in favor 
of the City. 

1.104 Strong Mayor Plan 
The plan of municipal government provided by this Charter is known as the "Strong 
Mayor Plan." 

ARTICLE II 

ELECTIONS 

2.101 Elective Officers 
The elective officers of the City are the mayor and the seven (7) members of the 
Council. Six (6) Council members shall be elected by district and one (1) at-large 
Council member shall be elected Citywide. 

1 



2024 Proposed Charter 

2.102 Elections 
Regular City primary and general elections shall be held on the same date as 
regular state gubernatorial primary and general elections.Regular City primary and 
general elections shall be held on Tuesday following the second Monday in August 
and Tuesday following the first Monday in November of odd years. City elections 
are 11011-partisan.-Gi-ty-eleetiGns shall occur in accordance with state and-federal law. 
City elections are non partisan. 

2.103 Voters 
Electors of the City shall be registered as provided by law. 

2.104 Conduct of Elections 
City primary and general elections shall be conducted and votes canvassed as 
provided by law. 

2.105 Election Commission 
The City Election Commission is composed of: 

1. City Clerk 
2. An employee of the City to be appointed by the Mayor 
3. City Treasurer 
4. Two residents appointed by Council 

The Commission has general supervision of all elections in the City, shall be advised 
by the City Attorney, and may hire assistants, inspectors, and other election 
personnel and an independent attorney or law firm, subject to appropriation in an 
approved budget. 

Except as otherwise provided by this Charter or ordinance, the Commission shall 
perform all duties required of election commissions by law. It may subpoena 
witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony, and require the production of evidence. 
To enforce a subpoena or order for production of evidence or to impose and penalty 
prescribed for failure to obey a subpoena or order, the Commission shall apply to the 
appropriate court. 

All meetings of the Commission shall comply with state law. 

In case of any doubt concerning election procedure, the Commission shall prescribe 
the procedure to be followed. 

The City Clerk shall serve as chair of the Election Commission. 

2 



2024 Proposed Charter 

2.106 Electoral Districts and Re-Apportionment 
The City is divided into six (6) electoral districts. The districts shall be contiguous, 
compact and as nearly of equal population as is practicable. In no event shall the 
population of any district vary by more than 1 % from that of any other district, based 
upon the most recent official United States decennial census. Districts shall be 
designated by ordinance pursuant to law and this Charter. The ordinance shall be 
adopted as soon as possible after official release of census figures and at least four ( 4) 
months prior to the City primary election to which it first applies. The effective date 
of representation of the new districts shall be the date for taking office of the first 
Council members elected therefrom, unless otherwise provided by this Charter. 

2.107 Candidates for Nomination 
Any person desiring to become a candidate for nomination to any City office shall, 
prior to the City primary election, file with the Clerk nominating petitions as provided 
by law. Nominating petitions of a candidate seeking nomination to a Council at-large 
seat shall contain the signatures of at least 250 and not more than 400 registered 
electors of the City. Nominating petitions of a candidate for nomination to a Council 
district seat shall contain the signatures of at least 100 and not more than 150 
registered electors from that district. 

Nominating petitions of candidates seeking nomination for Mayor shall contain the 
signatures of at least 250 and not more than 400 registered electors of the City. 

2.108 Primary Election 
Nominations for each elective office shall be made at a City primary election. 
However, whenever not more than two (2) persons file for nomination to an office, 
there shall be no primary election for the office, the City Clerk shall certify such 
persons as duly nominated for that office, and the name(s) of the persons who filed 
shall be placed on the general election ballot for the office. 

2.109 Nomination and Election 
The two (2) candidates for nomination to each office receiving the most votes in the 
City primary for the office are nominated. The nominee for each office receiving the 
most votes in the City general election for the office is elected. If two (2) or more 
candidates for a nomination or two (2) or more nominees for an office receive an 
equal number of votes in the certified results, the Council shall determine by lot 
which person is nominated or elected. 

2.110 Recall 
An elective officer of the City may be recalled by registered electors as provided by 
law. 

3 



2024 Proposed Charter 

2.111 Effect of Recall 
No person, who has been recalled from an office, or who has resigned from office 
while recall proceedings were pending, shall be appointed by the City to any office 
within four ( 4) years after such recall or resignation. 

2.112 Oath of Office 
Every elected officer and other officers as prescribed by ordinance shall, before 
entering upon their duties, take and subscribe the following oath: 

"I do solemnly-swear (or affirm) that I will support the 
Constitution of the United States and of this State and-the 
Charter of the City of Pontiac and that I 'Nill faithfully discharge 
the duties of office to the best of my ability,! do solemnly swear 
(or affirm) that I will supportthe Constitution of the United 
States and the Constitution of this State, and that I will 
faithfully discharge the duties of the office of ........ according 
to the best of my ability." 

The oath, duly certified by the officer before whom it was taken, shall be filed in the 
office of the City Clerk 

3.101 Local Legislature 

ARTICLE III 

LEGISLATIVE BRANCH 

Chapter 1 
Council 

A Council of seven (7) members is created. The Council is the legislative body of the 
City and possesses such other powers as may be provided by law or this Charter. 

3.102 District Representation: Term of Office 
The member from each district shall be nominated and elected by the electors of the 
district. One (1) Council member at-large shall be nominated and elected by the 
electors of the entire City except for Council members already serving at the time 
this Charter is approved in 2024. To be eligible for the office of Council member for 
a district, a person must have been a resident of that district in question for one year 
immediately before the filing deadline for the office. To be eligible for the office of 
Council member at-large, a person must have been a resident of the City for one year 
immediately before the filing deadline for the office. 
Each member of the Council elected under this Charter shall serve for ( 4) years and 
until a successor qualifies. The Council shall be the sole judge of the qualification of 
its members. 

4 



2024 Proposed Charter 

3.103 Beginning of Term 
The term of each Council member begins at 8:00 a.m. on the first business day two 
weeks post certification of election by Oakland County. 

3.104 Organizational Meeting 
The first business of ,the first meeting in each new term of the Council shall be its 
organization. The meeting shall be held in the Council Chambers and shall be 
presided over by the City Clerk or a temporary presiding officer until the Council 
President and President Pro-Tern of the Council have been selected. The Council 
President shall preside at meetings of the Council. The President Pro-Tern shall 
perform the duties of the Council President during the absence or temporary 
disability of the Council President. 

The procedural and organizational rules for the Council shall be established by the 
Council at that first meeting of the new term. The rules shall establish who presides 
at meetings of the Council in the absence of the Council President and President Pro
Tem. The rules shall be written and accessible to the public and may be amended by 
the majority of Council. 

The rules shall address Council governance, Council orientation, Council 
communication and coordination with City administration and such other 
information Council deems appropriate. 

3.105 Meetings 
+R-e-fe-lfH-€-H shall meet at such times as prescribed by ordiHiHJ.ce or reso lution, 
except that it shall meet regularly-1.w-t less than twice per month. The Mayor, or any 
tv,ro (2) members of the Council may call special meetings of the Council, posted in 
m=aa-H-C-e-wi-t:1-Hhe--Mi.-Eltiga-&.Q-p-e&-Metings Act,a-oo-written neti€e--is-gi--vffi----l~--h 
member, and to the Mayor and Deputy Mayor, served personally, electronically, or 
left at the individual place of residence at least eighteen (18) hours prior to the 
meeting time. Hov,ever, any special meeting at ·.vhich all members of the Council are 
}:)-Fe-sent or h-ave--gi-ven-\.vritten conseB-t-sh-all be a lega-1-mee-tiHg for all pu-FpBses-set 
fo-Fth-+H-t--1~ All Council meetings shall be held in compliance with the Open 
Meetings Act MCL 15.261 et seq., as amended. The Council shall meet at such times 
as prescribed by ordinance or resolu tion, except that it shall meet regularly not less 
than twice per month. The Mayor, or any two (2) members of the Council may call 
special meetings of the Council, with written notice to each member. and to the 
Mayor and Deputy Mayor, served personally, electronically, or left at the individual 
place of residence at least eighteen (18) hours prior to the meeting t ime. However, 
any special meeting at which all members of the Council are present or have giY:rn 
prior written waiver of the not ification requirement. shall be a legal meeting fo r all 
purposes set fo rth in the notice. 

5 



2024 Proposed Charter 

3.106 Public Access: Rules 
As provided by law, all meetings of the Council shall be public and any citizen may 
have access to the minutes and records thereof at all reasonable times. 

The Council shall determine its own rules and order of business and shall keep a 
journal oft: its proceedings, in English and reproduced in Spanish. 

All records of the City shall be public and open to inspection at all reasonable times, 
subject to and in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act, MCL 15.231 et 
seq., as amended. 

3.107 Quorum 
A majority of all Council members serving constitutes a quorum, but a lesser 
number may adjourn from day to day and compel the attendance of an absent 
member in such manner and under such penalties as prescribed by ordinance. 

3.108 Voting 
Except as otherwise required by this Charter, no action of the Council shall be 
effective unless adopted by a majority of Council members serving. 

On all ordinances, and in all other matters on the demand of one or more members 
of the Council, a roll call vote shall be taken. 

3.109 Council Action 
The Council shall act for the City only by ordinance or resolution. 

3.110 Compensation 
Council is a part-time position, except for the Council President, which is considered 
full-time. 

Council shall be paid by the City as determined by ordinance, this Charter and law. 

3.111 Appointment of Clerk 
The Council shall appoint a City Clerk for an indefinite period upon an evaluation by 
a majority vote of Council; the Clerk shall continue its appointment with a yearly 
evaluation. The Clerk is removable by five (5) members of the Council. 

3.112 Ordinance Procedure 
( a) The enacting clause of all ordinances shall read, "The City of Pontiac ordains", 
but this clause may be omitted when the ordinances are published in a compilation. 

(b) Upon introduction, the Clerk shall distribute a copy to each Council member and 
to the Mayor, and shall file a reasonable number of copies in the office of the Clerk 
and such other public places as the Council may designate, and shall publish a copy 

6 



2024 Proposed Charter 

of the ordinance or a summary of the ordinance, determined by the Clerk by means 
established by ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the public in the 
City together with a notice of the time and place for consideration by the Council. 
Thereafter, the Council may amend and adopt the proposed ordinance without 
further pre-adoption publication. 

(c) A proposed ordinance, including an ordinance to repeal an existing ordinance, 
shall be introduced at a regularly scheduled Council meeting. Any ordinance shall 
require two readings by the Council and two opportunities for public comment at 
regularly scheduled Council meetings prior to being adopted. 

( d) The adoption of any ordinance by the Council shall require a majority of Council 
members serving. 

( e) The effective date of an ordinance shall be stated. The effective date shall not be 
less than 10 business days from the date of publication. No ordinance, except an 
emergency ordinance, shall be adopted on the same day that it is introduced. 

(t) An emergency ordinance, which shall contain a statement of its urgency, must be 
necessary for the immediate preservation of the public peace, property, health, 
safety or for the usual daily operation of a department. An emergency ordinance 
may be adopted on the day it is introduced, publication of a summary thereof before 
adoption is not required, and an emergency ordinance may be given immediate 
effect after posting of a notice of adoption at City hall and three other public places 
in the City, as determined by the Clerk who shall maintain a record of the locations 
of postings. Adoption of an emergency ordinance requires an affirmative vote of 
two-thirds of Council members serving. 

(g) Every ordinance or resolution of the Council, except quasi-judicial acts of the 
Council, appointments by the Council, matters relating to the internal organization 
of the Council or of a ceremonial nature, or such action as may be expressly 
exempted from veto by other sections of this Charter, shall be presented by the 
Clerk to the Mayor within four ( 4) business days after adjournment of the meeting 
at which the ordinance or resolution is adopted. 

The Mayor, within seven (7) days of receipt of an ordinance or resolution, may 
return it to the Clerk with a veto and a written statement explaining the veto. 
However, with respect to an emergency ordinance, the Mayor shall notify the 
Council of a veto in any reasonable manner within 24 hours after the Mayor's office 
receives written notice from the Clerk that the emergency ordinance has been 
adopted. 

An ordinance or resolution vetoed by the Mayor can be reconsidered by the Council 
no later than the next regularly scheduled meeting after the receipt of the Mayor's 
veto. Five Council members may readopt the ordinance or resolution over the 
Mayor's veto. 

7 



2024 Proposed Charter 

(h) An ordinance shall be published once after its adoption in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the City as provided in this Charter. Except for an emergency 
ordinance, such publication shall be before the ordinance's effective date. The Clerk 
shall certify on the record of ordinances the date and method of publication which 
shall be prima facie evidence that legal publication of an ordinance was made. 

(i) The Clerk shall maintain a record of all ordinances. After an ordinance is 
adopted, it shall be authenticated by the Clerk The record and the authentication 
shall be done within one week after adoption of an ordinance, but failure to so 
record and authenticate an ordinance does not invalidate it or suspend its 
operation. 

0) A repealed ordinance may not be revised, except by re-enactment of the whole or 
so much as is intended to be revived. When any section or part of .a__section of an 
ordinance is amended, the whole section as amended shall be re-enacted. 

(k) Prosecution for violation of an ordinance of the City shall be commenced within 
two (2) years after the commission of the offense. This limitation only applies to 
violations penal in nature, and is not a limitation of the City's right to forfeit any 
franchise, grant or license for violation of the terms and condition.s_ thereof. 

(l) A violation of an ordinance of the City shall be prosecuted as provided by law or 
ordinance. 

3.113 Transfer of City Property: Contracts 
The City may not sell, lease, exchange, or in any way dispose of any real property of 
the City without approval, after public notice and hearing, by resolution of the 
Council. The City may not sell any other personal property that may have been 
defined by ordinance~ as a minor, without approval by resolution of the Council. 
Nor may the City enter into a contract if there is not a sufficient unencumbered 
appropriation available to discharge fully the City's obligation thereunder, without 
approval by the Council. 

The City shall not sell, transfer, or divert to any other use park land unless approved 
by a majority of electors. Park land shall include any public park, public recreation 
area or public playground area owned by the City, within the City. 

3.114 Staff 
The Council may, within appropriations provided in the budget, appoint staff or 
contract for services. Staff or persons engaged pursuant to contract serve at the 
pleasure of the Council and shall take direction from Council and not be under direct 
supervision of the Mayor, appointee of the Mayor or other staff from the executive 
branch. 

8 



2024 Proposed Charter 

3.115 Relations with Executive Branch 
The Council and each of its members may make inquiries of, or request information 
and records from, the Mayor, the appointees or the employees of the executive 
branch. However, neither the Council nor any member thereof shall give any order 
or direction, either publicly or privately, to any appointee or employee of the 
executive branch. 

3.116 Investigative Powers 
The Council may subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony and require 
the production of evidence in any matter pending before it. To enforce a subpoena 
or order for production of evidence or to impose any penalty prescribed for failure 
to obey a subpoena or order, the Council shall apply to the appropriate court and/or 
appropriate board or commission an4--empowered with investigative powers, to the 
appropriate board or commission. 

3.117 Vacancies 
A vacancy on the Council may be filled by appointment of a registered elector of the 
City or district affected by a majority of Council members remaining. The appointee 
serves out the unexpired term or until a successor is elected. However, the terrn of a 
member may not be extended by resignation and subsequent appointment. 

3.118 Effect of Absences 
Absence from five (5) regular meetings during a one full calendar year shall operate 
to vacate the seat of a Council member, unless the absence is excused by the Council 
by resolution setting forth the excuse and entered upon the journal. Any Council 
member that is absent for over one half of any regularly scheduled meetings during 
one full calendar year, regardless of whether the absence is excused, shall operate to 
vacate the seat of the Council member. 

3.119 Control of City Payroll 
No compensation or salary shall be paid to appointees, members of boards or 
commissions, volunteers, or employees of the City except as approved by the 
Council. 

3.120 Bonds 
The Council may require any appointee or employee to give a bond for the faithful 
performance of duty, in such amount as it may determine, and the premium thereof 
shall be paid the City. 

An appointee or employee, required by law, this Charter, ordinance or resolution to 
give a bond, shall not enter upon or continue duties of the office or employment 
until such bond has been duly filed, approved and recorded. 

9 



2024 Proposed Charter 

All bonds shall be approved by the Council and filed with the Clerk, except the bond 
of the Clerk, which shall be filed with the Treasurer. 

All required bonds shall be surety company bonds licensed in the State of Michigan. 

Chapter 2 
City Clerk 

3.201 Functions and Duties of the Clerk 
a) The Clerk shall be clerk of the Council and shall attend all meetings of 

the Council and keep a permanent journal of its proceedings in the 
English language and Spanish language. 

b) The Clerk shall provide and publish required public notices in the 
manner provided by this Charter. 

c) The Clerk shall provide for the registration of electors residing in the 
City and conduct of all elections in the City as required by law. 

d) The Clerk shall maintain a record of all existing and proposed rules, 
regulations, policies, and procedures of the City. 

e) The Clerk shall certify by their signature all ordinances and 
resolutions enacted or passed by the Council and make them available 
to the public as provided by law. 

f) The Clerk shall administer oaths and take affidavits and exercise other 
powers and duties as provided by law, this Charter, or ordinance. 

g) The Clerk shall provide and maintain in their office a supply of forms 
for all petitions to be filed for any purpose by the provisions of this 
Charter. 

h) The Clerk shall ensure reasonably accessible polling locations 
throughout the City for the purpose of conducting elections. 

i) The clerk shall ensure safekeeping, retention, and public accessibility 
of documents in accordance with law. 

j) The Clerk shall exercise other powers and duties as provided by law, 
this Charter, Ordinance, or Resolution. 

3.202 Chief Assistant Clerk 
The Clerk may, with approval of Council, appoint a chief assistant who serves at the 
pleasure of the Clerk and performs the duties of the office in the absence or 
disability of the Clerk 

3.301 Establishment and Purpose 

Chapter 3 
Department of Council 

The Department of Council, hereinafter referred to as the "Department," shall be 
established to provide administrative support and assistance to the Council in 
fulfilling its legislative functions and serving the residents of the City. The 

10 



2024 Proposed Charter 

Department may provide administrative, research, and clerical support for the 
Council. 

3.302 Department Head and Staff 
( a) The Department may employ clerical, research, and administrative staff as 
necessary to fulfill its functions, subject to budgetary constraints and applicable 
laws. 
(b) The Council shall identify a lead staff member to serve as the Department Head 
that is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day operations of the Department. All 
staff members will report to the Department Head. 

3.303 Duties and Responsibilities 
The Department may: 

(a) Provide administrative support to Council members, including organizing 
meetings, maintaining records, and managing correspondence. This includes 
support for Council committees. 

(b) Conduct research on matters of legislative concern, providing Council 
members with relevant information to make informed decisions. 

(c) Assist in drafting ordinances, resolutions, and other legislative documents as 
directed by Council members. 

(d) Facilitate communication between the Council and the public, disseminating 
information about Council meetings, decisions, and public hearings. This may 
include community outreach. 

( e) Other duties and responsibilities may be assigned as outlined by ordinance of 
Council. 

3.304 Accountability and Cooperation 
(a) The Department shall be accountable to the Council and shall provide regular 
reports on the Department's activities, budget utilization, and any other relevant 
matters as required by the Council. 
(b) The Department shall cooperate fully with Council members and shall respond 
promptly to requests for information, research, or administrative support. 

3.305 Funding 
The Council may allocate sufficient funds in the City budget to ensure the effective 
functioning of the Department. The Department shall manage its resources 
efficiently and effectively, ensuring responsible use of public funds. 

11 



4.101 The Mayor 

2024 Proposed Charter 

ARTICLE IV 

EXECUTIVE BRANCH 

Chapter 1 
Mayor 

The Mayor is the chief executive of the City and as provided by this Charter, has 
charge of and is accountable for the executive branch of the City government. The 
Mayor shall serve a four ( 4) year term, commencing on the first business day after 
certification of election by Oakland County. 

To be eligible for the office of Mayor, an individual: 

(a) Shall have established a primary residence in the City for-twe-one 
years immediately preceding the filing deadline for the office and shall 
maintain a primary City residence. 

(b) Shall be a registered elector within the City on the first day of the term 
in office and during the entire period of the term in office. 

4.102 Duties of the Mayor 
The Mayor possesses all powers and duties inherent in being the chief executive 
officer of the executive branch, including but not limited to: 

a) Seeing those laws, this Charter and ordinances are faithfully executed 
and enforced; 

b) Presenting the proposed annual balanced budget at least 75 days 
prior to the start of the new fiscal year as provided by ordinance, this 
Charter and law; and 

c) Presenting an annual state of the City address in conjunction with 
submitting the proposed budget; 

d) Supervising expenditures of all sums appropriated to and the 
attainment of all objectives established for departments of the 
executive branch. 

e) Providing monthly regular financial reports of revenues and 
expenditures to the legislative branch and quarterly financial 
statements provided by independent auditors of the City to the 
legislative branch. 

4.103 Deputy Mayor 
The Mayor shall appoint, with the approval of the Council, a Deputy Mayor who 
serves at the pleasure of the Mayor and performs the duties of the office during the 
absence or temporary disability of the Mayor. If the Deputy Mayor appointment is 
not approved by the Council within 30 days after the submission of the appointment 

12 



2024 Proposed Charter 

to the Council, the Mayor has the right to re-submit the approval of the denied 
candidate or bring forth another candidate to Council. 

A person serving in the position of Deputy Mayor shall have a bachelor's or master's 
degree in public administration, business administration, or related field, with a 
master's degree preferred. Experience with municipal finance, community and 
economic development, project manager, and supervisory skills. Good written and 
oral communications skills. 

4.104 Relations with Council 
The Mayor or the Deputy Mayor shall attend all meetings of the Council and respond 
to questions from Council members and citizens, make reports and present 
proposals by the following regular Council meeting. Failure to present and respond 
to Council members or citizens may be investigated by the Public Integrity Officer. 

The Mayor and the Deputy Mayor may designate a City administrative officer to 
attend meetings of the Council on their behalf when they are temporarily absent due 
to an emergency, disability, or extenuating circumstances. 

4.105 Staff of the Office of Mayor 
The Mayor may, within appropriations provided in the adopted budget, hire such 
staff of the offices of Mayor as may be reasonably necessary, all of whom shall serve 
at the pleasure of the Mayor. 

4.106 Appointment of Department Heads: Failure to Act on Appointments 
Except as otherwise required by law or this Charter, the Mayor shall appoint for 
each department of the executive branch a director who serves at the pleasure of 
the Mayor as head of the department. Each appointment shall be subject to 
approval of the Council. 

If a mayoral appointment is not approved by the Council within 30 calendar days 
after the submission of the appointment to the Council, then the Mayor has the right 
to re-submit the approval of denied candidate or bring forth another candidate to 
Council. 

a. The interim appointee may not serve more than 65 days without Council 
approval. 

b. Any extension of the interim role is subject to approval by vote of the Council 
at the following next regular meeting after the 65-day period. 

13 



4.107 Duties of Department Heads 
Each department head shall: 

2024 Proposed Charter 

a. Consistent with law, this Charter, ordinance and any labor agreement, hire, 
promote, supervise, discipline, and remove employees of the department. 

b. Assign duties of the employees of the department and supervise the 
performance of these duties and the attainment of the objectives of the 
department. 

c. Shall perform other duties consistent with job description. 

4.108 Succession to Office 
If a vacancy occurs in the office of Mayor, the Council President shall succeed to the 
office until a new Mayor is elected. 

If the vacancy occurs in the office of Mayor more than one (1) year before the next 
regular City general election, the Council shall order a special primary election and a 
special general election to fill the vacancy for the unexpired term. 

If the vacancy occurs in the office of Mayor and the Council President is unable to 
succeed that office, the President Pro-Tern shall succeed to the office of the Mayor 
until a new Mayor is elected. 

If the vacancy occurs in the office of Mayor less than one (1) year before the next 
regular City general election the first business of the first Council meeting after the 
Mayor has been sworn in shall be the selection of a Council President or President 
Pro-Tern depending on who has succeeded to the position of Mayor. 

If a dispute arises concerning whether a vacancy in the office of Mayor has occurred, 
a majority of Council may petition the appropriate court for a determination of this 
fact question. 

4.201 City Attorney 

Chapter 2 
City Attorney 

The City shall maintain a City Attorney, who shall be either an attorney or law firm 
with attorneys licensed to practice in Michigan and versed in municipal law. The 
City Attorney shall serve in the executive branch of City government. 

4.202 Duties of City Attorney 
The City Attorney is responsible for: 

a) Supervising the conduct of all the legal business of the City and its 
departments; 

14 



4.203 

b) 

c) 

d) 

e) 

f) 
g) 

h) 

i) 

j) 

k) 

Settlements 

2024 Proposed Charter 

May draft ordinance proposals and approve language as to form as 
directed by Council; 
Preparing and advising on leases, deeds, contracts, or other papers as 
may be required by the Mayor, Council or any department; 
Furnishing written legal opinions when requested by the Mayor, the 
Council or any department; 
Instituting and conducting, on behalf of the People, all cases arising 
from the provisions of this Charter or ordinances and, when 
authorized by law, cases under the state law; 
Defending all actions or proceedings against the City; 
Prosecuting all civil actions to which the City is a party or in which the 
City has an interest, when directed to do so by the Mayor; notice of 
any such action shall immediately be given to the Council; 
Representing any elective officer or appointee of the City in any action 
or proceeding involving a-HY action or iwoceeding involving official 
duties; 
Ensuring that all laws, this Charter, and ordinances are legally 
executed and enforced; 
Attending meetings of the Council as requested by Mayor or Council; 
and 
Performing other duties assigned by resolution. 

No civil litigation of the City may be settled without the consent of Council. 

4.204 Option of Council 
Notwithstanding the above, the Council may engage independent legal counsel on a 
temporary basis where the Council is seeking enforcement of a Council subpoena or 
order, suing, or being sued by any City agency or officer, or defending against any 
action or proceedings involving the Council's official duties. Further, the Council 
may obtain the opinion or advice of independent legal counsel in any matter 
pending before it. 

4.301 Finance Department 

Chapter 3 
Finance Department 

A Finance Department is created in the executive branch of City government. The 
Head of the Finance Department shall have direct supervision over the finance 
department and the administration of the financial affairs of the City, including, but 
not limited to the keeping of accounts and financial records, the collection of taxes, 
special assessments and other revenue, the communication of financial records to 
Mayor and Council and such other duties as may be prescribed by ordinance. 

15 



2024 Proposed Charter 

4.302 Treasurer 
The Head of the Finance Department, with the consent of the Mayor, shall appoint a 
City Treasurer within budgeted appropriations, who shall serve at the pleasure of 
the department head. The Treasurer shall perform all the duties required of 
treasurers by law, this Charter and ordinance. 

4.303 Purchasing Division 
A division of Purchasing is created in the Finance Department. The Head of the 
Finance Department shall, with the consent of the Mayor, appoint within budgeted 
appropriations a Purchasing Agent who serves at the pleasure of the Finance 
Director. 

4.304 Centralized Purchasing: Competitive Bidding 
All purchases and contracts of departments and agencies of the City shall be made 
through the purchasing division, except as may otherwise be provided by ordinance. 
All purchases and contracts for procurement which exceed a dollar amount fixed by 
ordinance shall be made only pursuant to competitive bidding as prescribed by 
ordinance. The City may contract only with persons or firms that are equal 
opportunity employers and observe the principles set forth in Section 6.101 of this 
Charter. The Council shall enact a purchasing ordinance. 

4.305 Restrictions on Purchases 
No purchases shall be made, except on a signed requisition by the head of a 
department, countersigned by the Head of the Finance Department and approved by 
the Purchasing Agent. No purchases shall be made in excess of appropriations. All 
requisitions shall be filed within 30 days. 

4.306 Duties of Purchasing Agent 
The duties of the Purchasing Agent and rules and regulations relative thereto shall 
be as provided by law, this Charter and ordinance. 

4.307 Assessment Division, City Assessor, or Assessment Services 
The City shall appoint a City Assessor, or the City may contract for assessment 
services. 

4.308 Assessor's Duties 
The City Assessor's powers and duties shall be as provided by law, this Charter and 
ordinance. 

16 



2024 Proposed Charter 

Chapter 4 
Police Department 

4.401 Police Department (Police Services) 
The City shall provide for the safety of its residents. 

A Police Department may be created in the executive branch of City government. If a 
Police Department is created, the Chief of Police shall be the head of the department 
and serves under the supervision of the Mayor. 

The City may contract for police services with appropriate law enforcement 
agencies, as provided by law. 

4.402 Powers and Duties 
The Chief of Police and police officers of the department or contracted law 
enforcement agency shall possess powers conferred by law. 

4.403 Powers and Duties of Police Chief 
The Chief of Police or contracted law enforcement agency head is responsible for the 
public safety, peace and order and the enforcement of the criminal laws of Michigan 
and ordinances of the City,ey-0RH:R-a-H-€e. Other departments of the City may be 
given concurrent enforcement jurisdiction for ordinances which cover technical 
fields of municipal operations. The Chief of Police or contracted law enforcement 
agency head shall define the duties of police officers and prescribe rules relative to 
the performance thereof. 

4.404 Citizens Review Board 
A complaint by a citizen against a member of the Police Department (or contracted 
law enforcement agency) shall be made to the Chief of Police ( or contracted law 
enforcement agency head). However, if the citizen is dissatisfied with the 
disposition of the complaint made by the Chief of Police or agency head, or if no 
disposition is made within 10 days, the citizen may make a complaint to a Citizen 
Review Board, which shall be established by ordinance and in accordance with any 
collective bargaining agreements. 

Chapter 5 
Fire Protection Services 

4.501 Fire Department (Fire Protection Services) 
The City shall provide for fire protection services for its residents. 

A Fire Department may be created in the executive branch of City government. If a 
Fire Department is created, the Fire Chief shall be the head of the department and 
serves under the supervision of the Mayor. 

17 



2024 Proposed Charter 

The City may contract for fire protection services with appropriate fire protection 
service agencies, as provided by law. 

4.502 Emergency Power 
The Fire Chief or the person of the department or contracted agency in charge at any 
fire may cause any building to be razed or destroyed, when necessary, in order to 
arrest the progress of a fire or ensure the public safety, and no action shall be 
maintained against any person or against the City therefor. This shall be done with 
the concurrence by the City building official and notification to the Mayor and 
Council President. 

4.503 Powers of Fire Chief 
The Fire Chief or contracted agency head possesses all powers conferred by law, this 
Charter or ordinance, and the Fire Chief or contracted agency head shall assign 
firemen to fire-based services in accordance with their qualifications on a daily 
basis. 

Chapter 6 
Remainder of the Executive Branch 

4.601 Other Departments 
Other departments not created by this Charter, for performance of executive and 
administrative functions may be created in the executive branch by ordinance, 
consistent with this Charter. 

4.602 Assignment of Administrative Functions 
Responsibility for performance of all executive or administrative functions shall be 
assigned by ordinance to departments of the executive branch. 

4.603 Initial Continuation of Departments, Boards and Commissions 
All departments, boards and commissions existing under the previous Charter or by 
ordinance performing executive or administrative functions shall continue to exist, 
unless reorganized, consolidated, or abolished by ordinance. Provisions for such 
departments are hereby modified, if necessary, to comply with this Charter. 

18 



5.101 Fiscal Year 

2024 Proposed Charter 

ARTICLEV 

FINANCIAL PROCEDURES 

Chapter 1 
Budget 

The fiscal year of the City shall commence on the first day of July in each year and 
end on June 30th of the following year. 

5.102 Mayoral Budget and Appropriation Ordinance 
At least seventy--five (7 5) days before the end of each fiscal year, the Mayor shall 
prepare and submit to the Council a proposed annual budget and proposed annual 
appropriation ordinance for the next fiscal year. To assist the Mayor in preparing 
such budget and ordinance, the departments of City government shall furnish the 
Mayor with detailed estimates of expenses, according to a classification which is 
nearly uniform as possible. Proceedings on the proposed budget and the 
appropriation ordinance and the adoption thereof shall be as provided by law. 

5.103 Veto 
The veto power of the Mayor, set forth in Section 3.112 (g) of this Charter, shall, to 
the maximum extent permitted by law, apply to the budget and the appropriation 
ordinance on an item-by-item basis. 

5.104 Budget to Be Balanced 
The total amount of appropriations shall not exceed the estimated revenues of the 
City. No liabilities shall be incurred by any elective officer, appointee or employee of 
the City, except in accordance with the provisions of the appropriation ordinance, or 
under continuing contracts and loan authorized under this Charter. 

5.105 Budget to Be Adopted 
An annual budget and appropriation ordinance shall be adopted at least thirty (30) 
days before each new fiscal year. 

5.106 Interim Authority 
.Jf-G-ity--&ff-i-€eFs-f-a+~w-s-a-t:i-sfy-t-h4-s-Fe<:]-H41:.e-B-1e1-1t,t-he--feu.R.-ci-l,en-r-eques-t--i-n-wicit+Rg-ff--tl-ffi 
~e-a-~i-efl-..for a department's current expenses to an
amount sufficient to cover the minimum necessary expe-nse-s-of the affec-te<:l 
department until the appropriation ordinance is in force, or may borrov1 such 
money as may be necessary therefor. 

19 



2024 Proposed Charter 

5.10-76Transfers and Supplemental Appropriations 
After adoption of the annual budget and appropriations ordinance, and upon at least 
one week's notice by means established by ordinance to achieve widespread 
dissemination to the public, the Council, i-s-in an ordinance supported by at least five 
(5) Council members, may amend such ordinance to authorize the transfer of an 
unused balance appropriated for one purpose to another purpose, or to appropriate 
available revenues not previously appropriated. 

Chapter 2 
Taxation and Special Assessments 

5.201 Property Tax Levy 
The City shall determine such portion of revenues as may be necessary from 
property taxes to meet: (a) the appropriations made, (b) all sums required by law to 
be raised on account of City debt, and ( c) such additional sum not exceeding 5% of 
total appropriations in the budget, as may be necessary to meet commissions, fees, 
and abatements in the estimates of taxes, and shall, by ordinance, levy the property 
taxes so determined. 

5.202 Other Revenue 
The City shall have such authority to raise revenue by additional taxation as 
provided by law. 

5.203 Duties of Clerk 
All sums to be raised from property taxes in any year shall forthwith be certified by 
the Clerk to the City Assessor or contracted agency and shall be levied and collected 
upon the assessed valuation of taxable property within the City. 

5.204 Lien 
All taxes, charges, and penalties, other than special assessments, ordered to be 
spread on any tax roll, shall become a lien upon the property assessed, on and after 
the first day provided for the collection of such roll as provided by ordinance and in 
accordance with law. 

5.205 Tax Limits 
The total amount of taxes which may be levied against property for City purposed in 
any one year shall not exceed $10.00 on each $1,000.00 of the assessed valuation. 
An additional tax of $1.50 on each $1,000.00 assessed valuation may be levied for 
capital improvements or to pay principal and interest on bonds therefor; and a 
further additional tax of $2.00 on each $1,000.00 of assessed valuation may be 
levied to be utilized for salariesL benefits, or other expenses of firemen assigned to 
duty as requ-i-~ion 4.504-ef this ChaF-teF;--in addiBtion to such other 
revenues as may be regularly utilized for those purposed.s_. The provisions of this 

20 



2024 Proposed Charter 

section shall not prevent the levy and collection on the full amount of taxes required 
by law for the payment of debts. 

5.206 Special Assessment Financing 
The City may also raise, by special assessment, in a special assessment district sums 
necessary for any improvement which may by law be financed by special 
assessment as provided by ordinance and in accordance with law. 

5.207 Limits on Incurring Obligations 
Except as otherwise provided by this Charter, no public work or improvement shall 
be commenced, nor expenditure made, nor any contract authorized until an 
appropriation has been made or a special assessment levied to pay the cost and 
expenses thereof. No such work or improvement shall be paid for, or contracted to 
be paid for except from the proceeds of the appropriation or special assessment of 
from proceeds from bonds or other obligations issued in anticipation of the 
collection of the appropriation or special assessment. 

5.301 Accounting 

Chapter 3 
Accounting Controls and Audits 

Accounts shall be kept by the Finance Department or contracted agency showing all 
assets and liabilities of the City and the financial transactions for all departments of 
the City. The accounts and the forms therefor shall conform to any uniform system 
required by law or ordinance. Financial reports shall be prepared for each month, 
each quarter, and each fiscal year, Those financial reports shall be provided to the 
Mayor and the Council. 

5.302 Payments 
Payments by the City shall be made only in accordance with procedures prescribed 
by ordinance. 

Each draft, check, order or warrant shall specify the fund from which it is payable. 
The Finance Director or contracted agency head shall examine all payrolls, bills and 
other claims and demands against the City, except claims for unliquidated damages, 
and shall make no payment unless the Finance Director find~ that: (a) the claim is in 
proper form, correctly computed and duly certified, and justly and legally due and 
payable; (b) an appropriation has been made therefor which has not been exhausted 
or that the payment has been otherwise legally authorized; and ( c) there is money in 
the City treasury to make payment. The Finance Director may investigate any claim, 
and for such purposes, may examine witnesses under oath. If the Finance Director 
finds such bill, claim or demand is fraudulent, erroneous or otherwise invalid, the 
Finance Director shall not pay without authorization by resolution of the Council. 

21 



2024 Proposed Charter 

All payments shall have two autho•rized signatures to be valid. 

5.303 Cash Management 
All taxes, special assessments, license fees, or other sums accruing to the City shall 
be collected by the Treasurer. All money belonging to the City received by any 
elective officer, appointee, employee, or contracted agency employee of the City 
shall be given promptly to the Treasurer and deposited with such responsible 
banking institution as have been designated by the Council and furnishing such 
security as the Council may determine. All interest shall accrue to the benefit of the 
City. The City shall provide by ordinance for the prompt and regular daily deposit of 
all City monies as required by this section. All fees received by any elective officer, 
appointee, employee, or contracted agency employee for City services shall belong 
to the City. 

5.304 Establishing Funds 
The revenues received for general taxation upon all property in the City, from 
borrowing to be repaid by such taxation, or from other sources shall be divided into 
such funds as the City may determine by ordinance or resolution. 

5.305 Annual Independent Audit 
An independent annual audit shall be conducted within 180 days after the end of the 
fiscal year. The audit of the City accounts of all elective officers, appointees, 
departments, and contracted agencies of City government shall be conducted by 
certified public accountants, who have no personal interest, direct or indirect, in the 
financial affairs of the City or any of its departments, contracted agencies, elective 
officers, appointees or employees. In addition to the annual audit, the Council or the 
Mayor may, at any time, provide for such examination or audit of the City accounts 
of any department, contracted agency, elective officer, appointee, or employee of 
City government as the Council or Mayor may determine. 

Chapter 4 
Assessment of Taxes 

5.401 Assessment of Property: Subject of Taxation 
All property subject to ad valorem taxation shall be assessed as provided by law. On 
completing the assessment roll, the City's Assessor or a contracted assessing agency 
shall sign and transmit it to the Clerk for consideration by the Board of Review. The 
subjects of taxation for municipal purposes are the same as for State, Country or 
School purposes under law. 

5.402 Board of Review 
The Board of Review consists of the three electors of the City, to be appointed 
annually by the Council before the date of the first meeting prescribed by law. Two 
alternate Board of Review members shall also be appointed annually by the Council. 

22 



2024 Proposed Charter 

No City elective officer, candidate for elective officer, employee or contracted agency 
staff shall be eligible for Board of Review membership. Except as otherwise 
provided by this Charter, the Board of Review possesses all powers and duties 
provided by law. A majority of the board shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business, but a less number may adjourn from day to day. The Board 
of Review shall review and equalize the assessment roll of the City. With notice to 
the property owner, on its own motion, with good cause shown, it may reduce or 
increase the valuation of any property found on the roll and shall add thereto any 
taxable property in the City omitted therefrom. The City's Assessor, or their 
designee, shall attend all meetings of the Board of Review. 

5.403 Correction of Errors 
The Board of Review shall examine the assessment roll, and correct any errors or 
deficiencies found therein. 

5.404 Meetings of Board Review 
Notice of the time and place of meetings of the Board of Review shall be given by the 
City's Assessor as prescribed by law. The Board of Review shall select one member 
as chairperson, and continue in session at least six ( 6) hours per day for four ( 4) 
days successively, and as much longer as may be necessary to complete the review. 
Any person may examine his or her assessment on such roll and may show cause 
why the valuation should be changed. The board shall decide each case and, except 
as provided by law, its decision is final. 

The board may examine, on oath, any person concerning an assessment. The 
chairperson or any member of the board may administer oaths. It shall keep a 
record of its proceedings, and all changes made in the roll shall be entered upon the 
record. The record shall be deposited with the City's Assessor. All questions before 
the board shall be decided by a majority of the board. After the Board of Review has 
completed the revision of the roll, the Clerk shall certify that it is the general 
assessment roll of the City for the year, as approved by the Board of Review. 

5.405 Board's Completion of Roll 
Upon the completion of the roll and its certification, it shall be returned to the City's 
Assessor and shall, except as otherwise provided by law, be conclusively presumed 
to be valid. The omission of the certification shall not affect the validity of the roll. 

5.406 Equalization 
The City's Assessor shall present the original assessment roll to the Board of 
Commissioners of Oakland County as provided by ordinance and in accordance with 
law. After equalization by the Board of Commissioners, such roll shall be the 
assessment roll of the City for all assessment purposes whatsoever except for the 
taxes levied in July as provided in Section 5.408. 

23 



2024 Proposed Charter 

5.407 City Property Taxes 
City property taxes as levied by the Council shall be spread upon the assessment roll 
by the City's Assessor. The City's Assessor shall then deliver to the City's Treasurer a 
certified copy of the assessment roll. 

5.408 Due Date 
City property taxes for each fiscal year are due and payable each July 1, and may be 
paid at any time during July and August without any collection fee, or additional 
charge. An additional charge to be specified by ordinance shall be added to all 
unpaid general City taxes on September 1st and on the first day of each succeeding 
month during which taxes remain unpaid, until return thereof, together with 
accrued penalties or charges. 

5.409 Publication 
The City Treasurer shall give notice rn-a-by means established by ordinance to 
achieve widespread dissemination to the public for six (6) business days 
immediately preceding July 1 that: (a) City property taxes may be paid at any time 
through August 31 without any collection fee therefor, and (b) an additional charge 
(and the amount thereof) will be made on September 1 and on the first day of each 
succeeding month during which taxes remain unpaid until return to the County 
Treasurer. Failure to give this notice shall not invalidate the tax, nor release the 
persons or property assessed from the penalty. 

5.410 Liens 
City property taxes so levied constitute a lien upon the property and a charge 
against the persons owning the property, as provided by law. 

5.411 School and County Taxes 
On November 1, as provided by ordinance and in accordance with law, the City's 
Assessor shall spread upon the assessment roll as-all school and county taxes, 
certified by the Board of Commissioners or otherwise, and such other taxes as are 
legally required to be spread on the roll. 

5.412 Receipt of Roll by Treasurer 
Within 30 days after November 1, the City's Assessor shall deliver a certified copy of 
the assessment roll to the City Treasurer. 

5.413 Notice of Other Taxes Due 
Upon receiving the assessment roll, the City Treasurer shall give notice by means 
established by ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the taxpayers of 
the City for six ( 6) business days immediately preceding December 14 that: (a) such 
school, county, and other property taxes levies may be paid at any time through 
February 14 without any collection fee therefor, and (b) an additional charge (and 
the amount thereof) will be made on February 15 and on the first day of each 

24 



2024 Proposed Charter 

succeeding month during which taxes remain unpaid until return to the County 
Treasurer. Failure to give this notice shall not invalidate the tax, nor release the 
persons or property assessed from the penalty. 

5.414 Collection of Taxes 
For the collection of all unpaid taxes after each August 31 and February 14, the 
Treasurer possesses the same power and authority as conferred by law upon 
township treasurers. The Treasurer shall exhaust all legal remedies for the 
collection of unpaid taxes before the return thereof. 

5.415 Payment to School Board and County 
The City Treasurer shall, within 10 days after the expiration of the time limited in 
the warrant, or in case of extension of time for collecting such taxes, within 10 days 
after such time has expired, pay over to the treasurers of all authorized taxing 
authorities the amount which by law is so payable, and on March 1, or within 10 
days thereafter, shall pay to the County Treasurer the balance which by law is so 
payable, and shall make returns as provided by law. 

5.416 Applicable Law 
G eneral-baw--s-ha-ll-geve-Fn--the assess i H-g,levyi-n-g,--rol-leE-ti-en-an-a-realffi-6-f~ 
except as-etlteiwi-se-13--Hwided by this Charter. 

The assessment, levy, collection and return of taxes shall be governed consistent 
with this Charter and law. 

5.417 Part Payment 
For each parcel in the City, partial payment of property taxes shall be governed by 
state law. 

5.418 Fees and Penalties 
The fees and penalties provided by this Charter or law for collection of taxes shall 
belong to the City and shall be deposited by the City Treasurer into the City 
Treasury. 

5.419 Records of Ownership 
The City's Assessor shall maintain a current record of the changes of ownership of 
real property in the City as shown by the Records of the Oakland County Register of 
Deeds. 

25 



5.501 Borrowing Authority 

2024 Proposed Charter 

Chapter 5 
Bonds 

The City may borrow money and issue bonds on the full faith and credit and 
revenues of the City subject to the limitations established by law. 

5.502 Purpose of Bonds 
Bonds may be issued for any municipal improvement necessary to advance the 
peace, health, safety and welfare of the City or its inhabitants or for any other 
purpose not prohibited by ordinance, Charter, or law. No bonds shall be issued to 
defray any general operating or administrative costs and expenses of the City. 

5.503 Bond Issuance 
Bonds of the City shall not be issued without approval of a majority of registered 
electors voting on the question except as otherwise provided by law. 

5.504 Providing for Principal and Interest 
All bonds and interest shall be payable as provided by ordinance, Charter, and law. 

5.505 Special Assessment Borrowing 
The City may raise money by borrowing in anticipation of the payments from 
special assessments for the purpose of defraying costs of the improvement for 
which the assessment was levied. Such borrowing shall not exceed the assessments 
made to complete the whole work, nor shall such borrowing be made until after the 
special assessment roll has been confirmed. The City may pledge the full faith and 
credit of the City for the payment of such borrowing. 

5.601 Power Granted 

Chapter 6 
Special Assessments 

The City may provide for the payment of all or any part of the cost of construction, 
reconstruction, repair, operating or maintenance of any public structure or 
improvement, by levying and collecting special assessments upon property specially 
benefitted. 

5.602 Petition by Owners 
If the owners of the majority of the frontage oflands liable to be assessed in any 
special assessment district or part of the City, which may be constituted a special 
assessment district, petition the Council for any public improvement, the City may 
order such improvement to be made. In other cases, public improvements may be 
made at the discretion of the Council by resolution. 

26 



2024 Proposed Charter 

5.603 Council Resolution for Special Assessment 
When the Council determines to make any public improvement or repairs and 
defrays the whole or part of the cost and expenses thereof, by special assessment, it 
shall so declare by resolution. The resolution shall state the nature of the 
improvement, the portion of the expenses which shall be paid by special 
assessment, and the portion, if any, which shall be paid from the City's general fund 
and shall designate the lands and premises included in the district upon which the 
special assessment is levied. 

5.604 Procedure by Ordinance 
The complete special assessment procedure to be used, including the preparing of 
plans and specifications; estimated costs; the preparation, hearing and correction of 
the special assessment roll; the filing by interested persons of objections to the 
special assessment roll as confirmed and the hearing and decision upon such 
objections; the collection of special assessments; the assessment of single lots or 
parcels; and any other matters concerning the making of improvements by the 
special assessment method, shall be provided by ordinance. The ordinance shall 
authorize additional assessments, if the prior assessment proves insufficient to pay 
for the improvement or is determined to be invalid in whole or in part. The 
ordinance shall also provide for the refund of excess assessments. However, if the 
excess is less than 3 % of the total cost as defined by ordinance, it may be placed in 
the City's general fund. 

5.605 Liens 
From the date of confirmation of any roll levying any special assessment, the full 
amount of the assessment and all interest thereon shall constitute a lien on the 
property and a debt of the person owning the property until paid and in case of 
delinquency, may be collected as delinquent City property taxes. 

ARTICLE VI 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Chapter 1 
Personnel Matters 

6.101 Affirmative ActionNon-Discrimination 
City government shall provide equal opportunity in employment for all persons and 
shall comply with the provisions of the Elliott-Larsen Civil Rights Act MCL 
§3 7.2101, as amended.~ibit discrimination in employ-ment-beE-ause of race, 
color, rel-tg-i-en,sex, age, national~p,m-arital starus,se-xual orientation, 
height, or weight. 

27 



2024 Proposed Charter 

6.102 Employee Serving in Management 
Management consists of elective officers and appointees as defined in Section 6.206. 
Rules shall be established by ordinance or resolution which permits any person 
holding employment covered by a bargaining unit or a civil service classification 
plan who is selected for an appointment to take a leave of absence from such 
covered employment for the period of the appointment. 

6.103 Local Officers' Compensation Commission 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Charter, the compensation of elective 
officers may be revised pursuant to law by the Local Officers' Compensation 
Commission which shall be established by ordinance. 

6.104 Vacancy 
The position of any elective officer or appointee shall become vacant upon death, 
resignation, absences, permanent disability, removal from City residence or, in the 
case of a Council member, removal from district residence, or dismissal from the 
position in any manner authorized by Law and this Charter. 

6.105 Filling of Vacancies 
If a vacancy occurs in any appointive position, it shall be filled by appointment (for 
the unexpired term, if any) in the matter provided for the original appointment. 

6.106 Conflict of Interest 
(a) Except as otherwise required by law, and subject to limitations of MCL 
§15.328, as amended: 

(1) An elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a conflict between 
personal interest and the public interest as defined by law, this Charter, or 
ordinance shall disclose fully to the City Attorney the nature of the conflict, 
who shall provide the Mayor, City Council. and the Office of Public Integrity 
with a summary of the stated conflict. Except as provided by law or 
ordinance, no elective officer, appointee, or employee of the City may 
participate in or act upon or vote upon any matter if a conflict of interest 
exists. 

(2) Any elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a 1 % financial 
interest, direct or indirect or by reason of m-vnership of a 1% amount of stock 
in any corporation, in any contract with the City or in the sale of any land, 
materials, supplies or services to the City or to a contractor supplying the 
City, shall make known that interest tH-IB--to the City Attorney the nature of 
the conflict who shall provide the Mayor, City Council. and the Office of 
Public Integrity with a summary of the stated conflict. Such elective officer, 
appointee or employee shall refrain from voting upon or otherwise 
participating as an elective officer, appointee, or employee in the making or 
performance of the contract or sale. 

28 



2024 Proposed Charter 

f-:B--l.4e-l-atie-H--Of.this subsec-t-ien-with the knowledge, express or implied, of 
the person or corporatio • • • w · • • • • 1e City shall 
render the contra CHH'-&ate-'v+Htn:tHtt:~f-H~wl-i:l:V-{:)-F-B-F-1:-1'IB-b&l±H<B+. 

(b) An elective City officer or an appointee who is a relative of an applicant for 
employment by the City being the individual's parent, grandparent, child, 
grandchild, sibling, or spouse thereof, shall immediately be disqualified from, and 
shall not participate in any way in, the hiring process for that applicant. 
After complaint made by any City resident, referred to the Office of Public Integrity, 
and, if litigated, it is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, that, in the 
hiring of any person, this provision was violated, the employment of such person 
shall be a nullity,, and-su€&ln addition violation shall be cause for a-re€a-ll--B-f-the 
dismissal of the appointed City officer or appointee employee involved. Further, a 
G-ity officer or appointee violating this provision is guilty of a misdemeanor subje€t 
to a fine of $500.00, or imprisonment of 90 days or both. The City Council shall 
adopt an ordinance providing for penalties fo r violation of this section. 

(c) No elective officer shall hold any appointive posit-i-OH,vvhi€l1-was-c~ 
the compensation for whlaHvas fixed or increased during his or her incumbeney, 
until one year after such person's leaving office. 

6.107 Retirement Plans-C-0HtifH1-etl-
The City may establish, by ordinance, its retirement plans consistent with law, thaf 
does not extend liability beyond the current fiscal year. The existing governing 
bodies for administering those plans, the benefit schedules for those plans, and the 
terms for accruing rights to and receiving benefits under those plans shall have 
ordinance status remain under this after the effective date of this Charter. 

6.108 Removal for Cause 
Any appointee subject to removal for cause may be removed by the appointing 
authority for lack of qualifications, incompetency, neglect of duties, misconduct, 
conviction of a felony, or a violation of this Charter or any job-related ordinance, 
rule or regulation. An appointee may not be removed under this subsection without 
an opportunity for a public hearing before the appointing authority. A copy of the 
charges shall be furnished at least 10 days in advance of the hearing. 

Chapter 2 
Specific Powers and Miscellaneous Provisions 

6.201 Enabling Legislation 
The City may enact any ordinance authorized by law or necessary to carry out the 
provisions of any section of this Charter. 

29 



2024 Proposed Charter 

6.202 Rents, Tolls. Excises and Taxes 
The City may provide for the laying and collecting of rents, tolls, excises and taxes in 
accordance with the law. 

6.203 Eminent Domain 
The City has the power of eminent domain and, to the extent permitted by the law, 
may condemn private and public property located within or outside of the City for 
any public purpose. 

6.204 Penalties 
The City shall, by ordinance, provide punishment, to the extent permitted by law, for 
the violation of any provision of this Charter or any ordinance. 

6.205 Subsequent Grade Changes 
Expenses for improvements related to changes in the grades of streets, alleys, public 
highways, pavements, sidewalks, or curbs may be financed by special assessments, 
or charged to and paid by the City. 

6.206 Definitions 
As used in this Charter 

(1) "Director" means the administrative head of a department, 
notwithstanding that another title may, by this Charter or ordinance, 
be given to the position. 

(2) (a) "Appointee" and "appointment" refer to persons either (i) serving 
on boards and commissions of (ii) holding upper level positions 
included in the management of City government and outside any civil 
service system or collective bargaining unit; and 
(b) "Employee" and "hiring" refer to persons holding positions in City 
government below the management level. 

(3) "Shall" is mandatory; "may" is discretionary. 

6.301 Administrative Rules 

Chapter 3 
Rule Making 

Except for rules otherwise adopted pursuant to law, before adopting any rule 
governing dealings between the City and the public, or establishing hearing 
procedures for resolving matters in dispute, a City department or agency shall give 
notice of a deadline for comment by publication. 

30 



2024 Proposed Charter 

No rule shall become effective until it has been posted by the City Clerk by means 
established by ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the public. All 
effective rules shall be printed in a book of City rules. 

6.302 Emergency Rules 
Notwithstanding the preceding section, in the case of an emergency defined by state 
ta-\¥-Geetarea---i-H-Wf-it-i-ng by the Mayor or-the-GeHndl, a proposed-rule may be given 
effect for a period not to exceed 60 days pending completion of the required 
procedureCity Council shall adopt by ordinance a procedure for emergency rules. 

6.401 Initiative 

Chapter 4 
Initiative and Referendum 

A proposed ordinance may be submitted to the Council upon petitions signed by 
registered electors of the City. After submission, the Clerk shall promptly ascertain 
and certify the number of signers. 

6.402 Duties of Council and Petitions 
If such certificate shows that the number of registered electors of the City signing 
tlte-is not less than 10% oot less than or equal to 15% of the registered electors of 
the City voting at the preceding Presidential election, the Council shall within 20 
days thereafter either: 

(a) adopt the ordinance without alteration (subject to the referendum 
provided by Charter); or 

(b) at the next election to be held in accordance with state law, the 
proposed ordinance shall be submitted without alteration to the 
voters. 

6.403 Referendum 
No ordinance, except an emergency ordinance, shall take effect before 10 days after 
adoption. If, within these 10 days, 500 registered electors of the City file with the 
Clerk a notice in writing of their intention to circulate a petition for referring the 
ordinance to the electors for their adoption or rejection, then the ordinance does not 
become effective until 20 days after its adoption. If, within these 20 days, petitions 
containing the number of signatures required by this Charter are not filed in 
accordance with such written notice, the ordinance shall become effective upon the 
expiration of the 20--day period. If, within the 20 days, however, petitions protesting 
the ordinance signed by registered electors of the City equal in number to at least 
10% of the registered electors of the City voting atthe preceding Gi-ty-p}:residential 
election are presented to the Council, the ordinance is suspended from taking effect. 
The Council shall immediately reconsider the ordinance. If the ordinance is not 
entirely repealed, the Council shall submit it to an electoral vote at the next 

31 



2024 Proposed Charter 

scheduled election in the~ and the ordinance shall not take effect unless 
approved by a majority of the registered electors voting thereon. These referendum 
provisions do not apply to: 

(a) an ordinance required, or exempted from referendum, by law or this 
Charter; 

(b) an emergency ordinance: however, grant of a franchise may not be 
deemed an emergency ordinance. 

6.404 Powers of Council 
The Council may, of its own motion, submit to electoral vote for adoption or 
rejection at an election in the City a proposed ordinance or a proposition for the 
repeal or amendment of an ordinance. 

6.405 Conflicting Provisions 
If the provisions of two (2) or more ordinances approved at the same election are 
inconsistent, then the ordinance provision receiving the highest affirmative votes 
shall prevail. 

6.406 Publication 
Whenever an ordinance is required to be submitted to an electoral vote, the Council 
shall have the ordinance published by the City Clerk by means established by 
ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the public i-fl-each week for two 
(2) successive weeks immediately preceding the election. 

6.4rnnstate Law to Apply 
The form of petition and the conduct of the electoral vote for initiative and 
referendum measures shall, as near as may be, be the same as that provided by law 
for exercise of initiative and referendum by State electors. 

6.40-98Effect of Vote 
An ordinance approved by electoral vote shall not thereafter be repealed or 
amended by the Council for 18 months, except by electoral vote. 

Chapter 5 
Franchises, Licenses and Permits: Municipal Utilities 

6.501 Occupancy or Use by Private Concern 
A person or firm may be granted permission to occupy or use a street, alley or public 
place within the City for public utility purposes only under a City franchise, license 
or permit. As used in this chapter, "franchise", "license" and "permit" refer only to 
grants of permission for such public utility occupancy or use. 

32 



2024 Proposed Charter 

6.502 Limitations on Grant 
No franchise shall be granted by the City for a longer period than 30 years. No 
license shall be granted by the Council for a longer period than one year. 

6.503 Revocable Permits 
The City also may by resolution grant a permit at any time, in or upon any street, 
alley, or public place but such permit shall be revocable by the City at its pleasure at 
anytime. 

6.504 Manner of Grant 
Every franchise or modification thereof shall be granted by ordinance. A license or 
any modification thereof may be granted by resolution. Any such ordinance or 
resolution shall not become effective until all terms and conditions thereof have 
been accepted in writing by the grantee. Such acceptance shall be filed with the 
Clerk Any non-compliance with this section shall automatically cancel such 
franchise or license granted. 

6.505 Electoral Approval 
No franchise which is not revocable at the will of the Council shall be granted or 
become operative until it has been referred to electoral vote and has received the 
approval of a majority of the registered electors voting thereon. 

6.506 Expenses of Certain Special Elections 
No franchise, license or permit shall be submitted to the electors at a special 
election, unless the expense of holding the election, as determined by the Council 
shall first be paid by the grantee to the Treasurer. 

6.507 Exclusivity Prohibited 
No person or firm shall ever be granted any exclusive franchise, license, or permit. 

6.508 Restrictions on Transfer 
No franchise, granted by the City, shall ever be leased, assigned, or otherwise 
transferred except in accordance with the express provisions of the franchise. All 
franchises granted by the City shall provide how, and in what manner, and under 
what conditions the franchise may be leased, assigned, or transferred. No dealing by 
the City, nor part performance by any lessee, assignee or transferee shall be deemed 
to operate as consent by the City. 

6.509 Restriction on Modifications 
No modification of any franchise or license shall be made, except in the manner and 
subject to all conditions provided by this Charter for an original grant of a franchise 
or license. 

33 



2024 Proposed Charter 

6.510 Subordinate to Police Power 
The grant of every franchise, license or permit shall be subject to the police power of 
the City, whether in terms reserved or not, to make all regulations which may be 
necessary to provide for the public health, safety and welfare of the people of the 
City. 

6.511 Co-Occupancy 
The City may, by resolution, require any person or firm holding a franchise from the 
City to allow the use of its tracks, poles, internet, and wires by any other person or 
firm to which the City shall grant a franchise, subject to reasonable regulations and 
upon the payment of a reasonable rental therefor, to the extent authorize at law. 

6.512 Compensation to City 
No franchise, license or permit to use the streets, alleys or public places of the City 
shall be granted by the City without fair compensation to the City therefor. No such 
compensation by the grantee shall ever be in lieu of any other lawful taxation upon 
its property, income or activities. Where the franchise, license or permit fixes the 
rate to be charged for the service or the commodity furnished by the grantee, such 
rate shall be subject to review and change in such manner and form as provided in 
the franchise, license or permit. 

6.513 Restrictions on Transfer of Municipality Owned Utilities 
The City may make a contract to purchase, operate and maintain any public utility 
property for supplying heat, light, power, or water to the City and its inhabitants. No 
contract to sell or transfer a-RG-i!_City utility shall bind the City unless a proposition 
therefor receives the affirmative vote of 3/5 of the electors voting thereon at a 
regular or special election. 

Chapter 6 
Separately Incorporated Bodies 

6.601 Authorities or Other Agencies Separately Incorporated 
Any authority or other agency that is separately incorporated by the City or by the 
City and other governmental bodies shall furnish to the City comprehensive 
accountings of its receipts and disbursements and all other financial statements 
concerning its assets and operations, in such detail, on such reporting forms, and at 
such intervals as the Council may require. 

6.602 Conflicts Prohibited 
No person shall serve on the governing body of any authority or agency referred to 
in Section 6.601 when a conflict of interest as defined in Section 6.107 of this 
Charter exists, except as authorized by law. 

34 



2024 Proposed Charter 

Chapter 7 
Rules of Interpretation 

6.701 Severability 
If any provision of this Charter ef.m:_the application thereof to any person or 
circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provision~ or 
applications of the Charter. 

6.702 Number or Gender 
The singular form of a word includes the plural, the plural form of a word includes 
the singular, and the masculine gender includes the feminine gender and the neuter. 

6.703 Tense 
This Charter is to be regarded as speaking in the present and continuously. Thus, for 
example, the phrase "as provided by law" will incorporate the provisions of law as 
they change from time to time. 

Chapter 8 
Boards and Commissions 

6.801 Public Engagement Philosophy 
(a) The City shall treat public engagement as an integral part of effective and trusted 
governance, not just as an occasional process or activity. 

(b) The City shall treat engagement as a multi-channel endeavor that includes face
to-face meetings, virtual interactions, and other online communications. Public 
engagement and input shall be encouraged in the work of the boards and 
commissions, with opportunities for community members to provide feedback and 
participate in the decision-making process. 

( c )The departments of City government shall encourage collaboration in public 
engagement efforts with other government jurisdictions and authorities, anchor 
institutions, community-based organizations, civic groups, and individual residents. 

6.802 Establishment and Purpose 
(a) The City of Pontiac shall establish and maintain various boards and commissions 
to advise, assist, and oversee specific areas of municipal governance. These bodies 
shall serve as essential components of the City's decision-making and policy 
development process. Boards and commissions may be established by Ordinance 
and in accordance with provisions within this Charter. 

(b) Boards and commissions may be created to address various areas of municipal 
governance, including but not limited to: Planning Commission, Arts Commission, 
Historical Commission, Parks and Recreation Commission, and other matters of 

35 



2024 Proposed Charter 

municipal concern. A process for establishing and eliminating boards and 
commissions shall be defined by ordinance passed by Council. Unless otherwise 
empowered by this Charter, ordinances, or law, all boards and commissions are 
advisory. 

(c) Unless otherwise provided, all members of boards and commissions shall serve 
without compensation as members thereof. Reimbursement, stipends or other 
payment mechanisms may be allowed for City trainings, meals, or other required 
needs as part of their official duties. 

(d) All boards and commissions existing at the time of the adoption of this Charter 
shall be continued and the meml:-JB-r-s-se-wi-ng thereon shall rem-ai-n--i-n-e.fice for the 
duration of the t~l½-t--l.:iey-we-re--a-woi:nted--.-

6.803 Composition 
(a) Each board or commission shall consist of a specific number of members, as 
determined by Council through ordinance, which may vary based on the nature and 
scope of the issues under consideration. 

(b) Unless otherwise provided by law or this Charter, members of boards and 
commissions shall consist of appointments made by both the Mayor and the Council. 
Processes for all appointments shall be identified through the approved ordinance 
or this Charter for each board or commission. 

( c) Composition of each board or commission shall consist of at least 51 percent 
Mayoral appointments, which shall be outlined in the enabling ordinance. 

( d) The appointment process shall be carried out in a transparent manner, ensuring 
diversity, inclusivity, and equitable representation of the community to be outlined 
in ordinance. 

( e) All reappointments must be confirmed by the Council. 

6.804 Terms of Office 
(a) Except as otherwise required by law, ordinance, or this Charter, the terms of 
members on all boards and commissions in City government is four ( 4) years. 

(b) The expiration of terms shall be staggered, so that no more than twenty-five (25) 
percent of the board or commission membership terms expire during a calendar 
year. 

(c) Except as otherwise required by law, this Charter or ordinance, an individual 
shall be a resident of the City to be eligible for appointment. 

36 



2024 Proposed Charter 

( d) In the event of a vacancy on a board or commission, the appointing authority 
shall fill the vacancy in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Charter, law, 
or ordinance. 

6.805 Powers and Responsibilities 
(a) The board and commission shall have the authority to conduct studies, research, 
and hearings related to their respective areas of responsibility. The board and 
commission may make recommendations to the Council and other City officials on 
relevant policy matters and other issues as they deem necessary. 

(b) The board and commission shall operate in accordance with this Charter and 
any specific enabling ordinances or resolutions established by the Council. They 
shall not have legislative or executive powers but shall serve in an advisory capacity, 
unless otherwise provided in this Charter or law. 

( c) The Council reserves the right to dissolve or modify the powers and 
responsibilities of any board or commission as provided by establishing 
e-roinancesubject to this Charter. 

6.806 Meetings and Procedures 
(a) The board and commission shall meet regularly, as specified in their enabling 
ordinances, and conduct open and public meetings in compliance with the state's 
open meetings laws. 

(b) Quorum requirements, voting procedures, and other operational rules shall be 
established by the Council or as specified in the enabling ordinances of each board 
or commission. 

(c) The operations of the board and commission shall be conducted transparently, 
with meetings, agendas, and relevant documents made easily accessible to the 
public. 

( d) The board and commission meetings shall be recorded by the City of Pontiac's 
cable department or professional contracted media services and televised on public 
access within two (2) business days and be accessible to the public. 

6.807 Accountability, Reporting, and Transparency 
The board and commission shall provide reports quarterly to the Council, 
summarizing their activities, findings, and recommendations. These reports shall be 
made available to the public. 

6.808 Youth Commission 
The Council may establish a Youth Commission by ordinance for individuals 
between 13-18 years old at time of appointment,-w+tb--ap-f)0tt1t-€€s-wi#1-two (2) yea-F 

37 



2024 Proposed Charter 

terms eligible for reappointment. The purpose of the Youth Commission may be to 
ffi.&€-H-£5-tl~e& that affect youth in t-he--QtyT inclusive of identifyktg-a~
fH}~, afH,i-identifying leadership pathways for youth in Gity-ge-ve-rn-iH€-R-t. 
Formal roles on the Youth Commission will be rota te~ 

6.809 Charter Review Board 
(a) The Council shall establish a Charter Review Board in the first three (3) months 
following approval of this Charter. The Charter Review Board shall be established 
every five (5) years and at any time the Council, by a vote of a majority of its 
members and ordinance, may call for such a Board. 

(b) The purpose of the Charter Review Board is to identify and recommend 
potential revisions to the City Charter, to be addressed as outlined by law and this 
Charter. Recommendations would be provided for review and approval by the 
Council for voter approval or for the recommendation to begin the process of a 
formal Charter Revision Commission, as outlined by applicable laws and statutes. 

( c) The Charter Review Board shall be composed of five (5) qualified electors of the 
City for a one (1) year term. Members of the commission shall not hold any other 
office or employment in the government of the City and shall serve without 
compensation. Members shall be identified as follows: 

a. Two (2) members appointed by the Council 
b. Two (2) members appointed by the Mayor 
c. One (1) member jointly appointed by the Council President and the 

Mayor, such member serving as chair of the commission. 

( d) Vacancies shall be filled in the same manner as prescribed for in this section. 

( e) The Charter Review Board shall report its findings and recommendations to 
Council regarding revisions to the Charter, if any, within one (1) year of 
appointment. Council may, at its discretion, submit any of the proposed 
amendments, in whole or in part, to a vote of the people in the manner provided for 
by applicable laws and statutes. 

ARTICLE VII 

ETHICS AND PUBLIC INTEGRITY 

Chapter 1 
General Ethical Standards 

7.101 Ethical Standards of Conduct 
These standards of conduct apply to public servants including the Mayor, Council 
members, appointive officers, appointees, employees and contracted entities and 

38 



2024 Proposed Charter 

their employees working on behalf of the City, as defined in this Charter. The 
purpose of applying and enforcing these standards is to ensure that governmental 
decisions are made in the public's best interest by prohibiting City officials and 
employees from participating in matters that impact their personal or financial 
interests. 

All City ordinances not inconsistent with these sections and that effectuate its 
operation may be retained. Ordinances may be enacted which are necessary to 
effectuate the operation of these sections. No ordinance shall be enacted which 
limits, contradicts, or otherwise conflicts with the intent and purpose of these 
sections. 

Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL §15.328, a public 
servant shall not~: 

a. Willfully or grossly neglect the discharge of their duties; 
b. Use or disclose confidential information concerning the property, 

government or affairs of the City or any office, department, or agency 
thereof, not available to members of the public and gained by reason 
of their official position; 

c. Use property of the City except in accordance with policies and 
procedures of the City; 

d. Engage in or accept private employment or render services when such 
employment or service is in conflict or incompatible with the proper 
discharge of their official duties or would tend to impair their 
independence of judgment or action in the performance of official 
duties; 

e. Represent a private person, business or organization in any action or 
proceeding pending before the City or any office, department, or 
agency thereof, except: 
i. A public servant may represent another person, business, or 

organization before a City agency where such representation is 
a required part of his or her official duties. 

ii. A public servant who is an uncompensated member of a City 
board, commission or other voting body may act as an agent, 
attorney or representative for another person, business or 
organization in a matter that is pending before a City agency, 
other than the board, commission, or other voting body on 
which they are a member; or 

iii. A public servant who is compensated by the City may act as an 
agent, attorney or representative for another person, business 
or organization in a matter that is pending before a City board, 
commission or other voting body, other than the board, 
commission or other voting body on which he or she serves as 
an appointee or an employee or under a personal services 

39 



2024 Proposed Charter 

contract, as long as they do so without compensation and on 
their leave time. 

f. Vote regarding or otherwise participate in the negotiation of the 
making of any City contract, or any other type of transaction, with any 
business entity in which they or an immediate family member has a 
financial interest; or 

g. Use their official position, in violation of applicable law, to improperly 
influence a decision of the Mayor, Council members, appointees or 
employees;: or 

l',. public servant in the course of their duties shall not: 

h. Solicit or accept a loan, payment or gift from an individual who is 
providing service to, receiving tax abatements, credits or exemptions 
from the City; or 

i. Unduly influence any decision to fill a position in City government 
with an immediate family member. 

7.102 Disclosures 
(a) Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL §15.328. a 

public servant shall disclose: 

(b) 

ill Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an immediate 
family member has in any contract or matter pending before Council; 

ill Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an immediate 
family member has in any contract or matter pending before or within 
any office, department, or agency of the City; 

ill Any interest that they, or an immediate family member has in real and 
personal property that is subject to a decision by the City regarding 
purchase, sale, lease, zoning, improvement, special designation tax 
assessment or abatement or a development agreement; 

ill Campaign contributions and expenditures, regarding City proposals 
or City elections, in accordance with applicable laws; or 

ill The identity of any immediate family member employed by the City or 
who is making application to the City. 

In addition to compliance with the above section, contractors and vendors 
shall disclose: 

ill The identity of all entities and persons with any financial interest, 
direct or indirect, in any contract or matter the vendor or contractor 
has pending before Council; and 

ill The identity of all entities and persons with any financial interest, 
direct or indirect, in any contract or matter the vendor or contractor 

40 



(c) 

2024 Proposed Charter 

has pending before or within any office, department or agency of the 
City. 

The above disclosures shall be made in writing and be made by sworn, 
notarized affidavit, in accordance with City ordinance and applicable laws. 

7.103 Lobbying Registration and Reporting 
A lobbyist, as defined by law, who lobbies within the City government shall be 
required to register with the City and file a report of his or her lobbying activity. All 
documents filed by lobbyists shall be filed with the City Clerk, be a public recording 
and additionally published electronically or other format as to provide access to the 
reports. A fee shall be assessed to each lobbyist, as approved by ordinance. 

7.104 Gifts and Gratuities 
A public servant shall not accept gifts, gratuities, honoraria, or other things of value 
from any person or company doing business or seeking to do business with the City, 
is seeking official action from the City, has interests that could be substantially 
impacted by the performance of the public servant's official duties, or is registered 
as a lobbyist under applicable laws. 

This prohibition shall not apply to: 

a. An award publicly presented to a public servant by an individual, 
governmental body or non-governmental entity or organization in 
recognition of public service; 

b. Complimentary copies of trade publications, books, reports, 
pamphlets, calendars, periodicals or other informational materials; 

c. A gift received from a public servant's relative or immediate family 
member, provided that the relative or immediate family member is 
not acting as a third party's intermediary or an agent in an attempt to 
circumvent this article; 

d. Admission or registration fee, travel expenses, entertainment, meals, 
or refreshments that are furnished to the public servant: 
i. By the sponsor( s) of an event, appearance or ceremony which 

is related to official City business in connection with such an 
event, appearance, or ceremony and to which one (1) or more 
of the public are invited; or 

ii. In connection with teaching, a speaking engagement, or the 
provision of assistance to an organization or another 
governmental entity as long as the City does not compensate 
the public servant for admission or registration fees, travel 
expenses, entertainment, meals or refreshments for the same 
activity. 

41 



2024 Proposed Charter 

7.105 One Year Post-Employment Prohibition 
Subject to law, including MCL §15.328, for one (1) year after employment with the 
City, a public servant shall not lobby or appear before the Council or any City 
department, agency, board, commission, or body or receive compensation for any 
services in connection with any matter in which he or she was directly concerned, 
personally participated, actively considered or acquired knowledge while working 
for the City. 

Subject to law, for a period of one (1) year after employment with the City, a public 
servant shall not accept employment with any person or company that did business 
with the City during the former public servant's tenure if that public servant was in 
any way involved in the award or management of that contract or the employment 
would require the sharing of confidential information. 

7.106 Contracts Voidable and Rescindable 
Subject to law, including MCL §15.328, +the City shall include language in its 
standard contract forms which provides that City contracts shall be voidable or 
rescindable at the discretion of the Mayor and Council at any time if a public servant 
who is a party to the contract has an interest in such contract and fails to disclose 
such interest. and S~uch contract~ Sfl-a-ll--may also be voidable or rescindable if a 
lobbyist or employee of the contracting party offers a prohibited gift, gratuity, 
honoraria, or payment to a public servant, in relations to the contract. If applicable, 
the actions of the contractor, and its representative lobbyist or employee, shall be 
referred to the appropriate prosecuting authorities. 

7.107 Campaign Activities 
The Mayor, Council members, appointees, appointive officers, and employees are 
prohibited from engaging in campaign activities using City property. Engaging in 
political activities during working hours is prohibited. 
The Mayor and Council members are prohibited from soliciting appointees, 
appointive officers and employees to work on political campaign activities or 
financially contribute to campaigns using City property or during working hours. 
No appointee, appointive officer, employee or contracted entity can be required or 
pressured to work on or financially contribute to campaigns as a condition of their 
hiring or continued employment. 

Chapter 2 
Office of Public Integrity 

7.201 Establishment of Office 
There shall be established an independent Office of Public Integrity (OPI) within the 
government of the City of Pontiac. The Public Integrity Officer shall head the office. 
The purpose of the Office of Public Integrity is to ensure honesty and integrity in 
City government by rooting out waste, abuse, fraud, and corruption. 

42 



2024 Proposed Charter 

7.202 Appointment, Removal. Term of Office, and Vacancy 
a. The Public Integrity Officer shall be appointed by a majority of Council members 
with concurrence of the Mayor in writing within 5 days of Council approval serving 
for a term of six (6) years. 

b. The Public Integrity Officer may be removed for cause by a three-fourths (3/4) 
vote of Council members serving. The Public Integrity Officer may only be removed 
from the office for cause, as outlined in Section 6.108. 

c. If a vacancy occurs in the Office of Public Integrity, the Council shall, within ninety 
(90) days, fill the office for a full term. 

4--'.fhis position is subject to recall provisions as outlined in thi~ 

7.203 Minimum Qualifications 
The Public Integrity Officer shall be a person who: 

1. Has an associate degree from an accredited institution of higher 
learning. 

2. Has at least five (5) years of experience in any combination of the 
following fields: 
a. As a federal, state, or local law enforcement officer; 
b. As a federal, state, or local government attorney, including a 

public defender; 
c. As a federal or state court judge; 
d. Progressive supervisory experience in an investigative public 

agency similar to an inspector general or public integrity office; 
e. Has managed and completed complex investigations involving 

allegations of fraud, theft, deception, and conspiracy; and 
f. Has demonstrated the ability to work with local, state, and 

federal law enforcement agencies and the judiciary. 
g. Related field of experience. 

7.204 Limitations: Prohibited Activities 
(a) During his or her term, the Public Integrity Officer may only engage in an 

occupation for profit, as approved by the Board of Ethics. The Public Integrity 
Officer may not hold any other government office outside the duties of the Public 
Integrity Officer and shall follow all conflict-of-interest provisions outlined in 
this Charter. 

(b) Subject to applicable law, the Public Integrity Officer shall not solicit votes or 
raise monetary or in-kind contributions for any candidate for an elective office. 

( c) Subject to applicable law, the Public Integrity Officer may not hold any elective 
City office until two (2) years after leaving the position. 

43 



2024 Proposed Charter 

7.205 Powers and Duties; Jurisdiction 
(a) The powers and duties of the Public Integrity Officer and their office shall focus 
on conduct related to fraud, waste, and corruption of any Public Servant and City 
agency, program, or official act. These powers and duties extend to contractors or 
subcontractors providing goods and services to the City and business entities 
seeking contracts or certification of eligibility for City contracts. 

(b) The Office of Public Integrity shall have the authority and responsibility to 
conduct independent and objective investigations into allegations of fraud, waste, 
abuse, corruption, or misconduct in the administration of City programs and 
operations. 

(c) The Public Integrity Officer may subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, take 
testimony, require the production of evidence relevant to a matter under 
investigation, enter and inspect premises within the control of any City agency 
during regular business hours. The Public Integrity Officer may enforce a subpoena 
or order for production of evidence. The Public Integrity Officer may work with the 
appropriate court and law enforcement agency to impose any penalty prescribed for 
failure to obey a subpoena or order. 

( d) The Public Integrity Officer shall serve as liaison between elected officers of the 
City, including any public servants. 

( e) The Public Integrity Officer shall provide support to the Board of Ethics, 
including providing necessary documentation, agendas, and other information for 
effective operations. 

(f) The Public Integrity Officer shall be the City Official in charge of the transition 
process, in cooperation with the City Clerk, to ensure effective maintenance of 
records, City documents, and property, that ethical standards are adhered to, and 
necessary processes and procedures are followed for a smooth transition between 
elected and appointed officials of the City. 

(g) The Office of Public Integrity shall conduct audits and reviews of City agencies, 
departments, and programs to ensure compliance with applicable laws, regulations, 
and policies to promote. As part of this process, the office shall ensure compliance 
with ethical standards, policies, and procedures of all City vendors and contractors. 

(h) The Office of Public Integrity shall submit reports outlining findings and 
recommendations on a regular basis to the Board of Ethics and may provide reports 
as requested by the Council and Mayor. The process shall detail any recommended 
corrective actions and advice on the implementation of best practices to mitigate 
future issues. 

44 



2024 Proposed Charter 

(i) If the Public Integrity Officer has probable cause to believe that any Public 
Servant, person, or entity providing services or seeking to do business with the City 
has performed an alleged illegal act, then he or she shall promptly refer the matter 
to the appropriate prosecuting authorities. 

7.206 Independence: Retaliation, Confidentiality, and Immunity 
(a) The Public Integrity Officer and their office shall operate independently from 
other City agencies and officials in the performance of duties to ensure impartiality 
and objectivity in investigations and audits. The Public Integrity Officer and their 
office shall report directly to the Board of Ethics. 

(b) It shall be the duty of public servants, contractors, subcontractors, or licensees of 
the City, and applicants for certification of eligibility for a City contract or program, 
to cooperate with the Office of Public Integrity in any investigation pursuant to this 
Article. Any person or entity who willfully, and without justification or excuse, 
obstructs an investigation of the Public Integrity Officer by withholding documents 
or testimony is subject to appropriate penalty prescribed by law, ordinance, or this 
Charter. This requirement and associated penalty shall be incorporated into all 
contracts and subcontracts to the extent necessary to make them effective against 
such entities or persons. 

(c) No person shall retaliate against, punish, or penalize any person or entity for 
complaining to, cooperating with, or assisting the Public Integrity Officer in the 
performance of his or her duties. Any person that violates this provision shall be 
subject to a fine outlined in rules and procedures by the Board of Ethics for each 
violation and any other penalties under applicable law, ordinance, or this Charter. 
The complainant is subject to whistle blower protections as provided by law or 
regulation. 

( d) Subject to any applicable state law, all investigative files of the Office of Public 
Integrity shall be confidential and shall not be divulged to any person or agency, 
except to the United States Attorney, the Michigan Attorney General or Oakland 
County Prosecutor's Office, or as otherwise provided by law, regulation, or this 
Charter. • 

( e) The Public Integrity Officer and their staff shall be, to the full extent permitted by 
law, immune from any suit based on any report or communication within the scope 
of official duties. 

7.207 Funding: Office Staffing 
The budget of the Office of Public Integrity shall be separate from the budgets of 
other City agencies. The Council shall annually appropriate funds in an amount not 
less than the budgeted amount for the purchasing department, sufficient to enable 
the Office of Public Integrity to fulfill its duties and responsibilities as outlined in 
this Charter. 

45 



2024 Proposed Charter 

7.208 Reporting and Transparency: Consultation Required 
(a) The Public Integrity Officer shall submit regular reports to the Board of Ethics, 
the Mayor, Council, and the residents of Pontiac summarizing the activities, findings, 
and recommendations of the Office of Public Integrity. These reports shall be made 
available to the public with proper redactions. 

(b) Where there exists a conflict of interest between the Office of the Public Integrity 
Officer, another branch of City government, person, or entity, the Public Integrity 
Officer has the authority to retain necessary consultative services, including but not 
limited to retention of an attorney licensed to practice law in Michigan who shall 
represent the Office of Public Integrity in legal proceedings, as approved by the 
Board of Ethics. Such attorney shall not represent the City as a municipal 
corporation in any other legal proceedings. 

(c) No report or recommendation that criticizes an official act shall be announced 
until every agency or person affected is allowed a reasonable opportunity to be 
heard and consulted as part of the investigative process. A copy of any statement 
made by the agency or individual affected shall accompany the report. A meeting 
may be requested of the Board of Ethics by the Public Integrity Officer and/or the 
agency or individual affected to review the report and provide a response. 

Chapter 3 
Board of Ethics 

7.301 Board of Ethics Creation and Membership 
In order to provide an orderly procedure for consideration and review of the issues 
which may arise concerning questions of standards of conduct for public servants, a 
Board of Ethics for the City, is hereby created: 

a. The Board of Ethics shall consist of five (5) members; 
b. Two (2) shall be appointed by the Council; 
c. Two (2) shall be appointed by the Mayor; 
d. One (1) shall be appointed by the Election Commission; by a 4/5 vote 

of members serving; 
e. Such appointments shall be made after applications are received, 

reviewed and interviews conducted. 

7.302 Member Appointment, Terms, and Removals 
(a) Members of the Board of Ethics shall be City residents. All terms shall be five (5) 
years, except for the initial terms. The initial terms shall be one Mayoral 
appointment for three (3) years, one Council appointment for three (3) years and all 
other appointments for five (5) years. Thereafter, all terms shall be for five (5) years 
each. Appointees are eligible to serve additional time until their replacement is 
confirmed. 

46 



2024 Proposed Charter 

(b) No person shall serve more than two (2) terms. 

( c) No elected official, appointive officer, or employee of any City agency, nor any 
person serving in an elective office at any level, shall be a Board of Ethics member. 
Members shall also not have been candidates for any elective City office for two (2) 
years prior to their appointment or one (1) year after their term. Any individual 
serving on the Board of Ethics may not hold elective office while serving. 

( d) If any issue before the Board of Ethics involves any member of the board, the 
Election Commission shall appoint an additional member or members to sit for the 
purpose of that determination in place of that member or members involved. 

(e) Members of the Board of Ethics are subjectto removal for cause as defined by 
Section 6.108 of this Charter, upon conclusion of investigation, by two-thirds (2/3) 
majority vote of the Board. 

7.303 Rules and Procedures 
(a) Atthe initial board meeting, the City Clerk shall convene the meeting and the 
first order of business will be for a Board Chair to be elected by a majority of the 
board. The term of board chair shall be at least two (2) years. 

(b) The Board of Ethics shall adopt its own rules and procedures consistent with 
ordinances, this Charter and law. 

(c) All meetings of the Board of Ethics shall be subject to the Michigan Open 
Meetings Act MCL 15.261, et al., and open to the public unless an individual involved 
i-n-#i:e-m-a-t-t-e-i'-te--e€--aa-a-re-&&ee requests in wf-i..ting that the meetin-g-l.'.)e-c-le-s-ed,-BF 
unless othenvise provided by ordinance and consistent with state law. 

( d) The Board of Ethics shall be supported by the Office of Public Integrity and 
Public Integrity Officer. 

7.304 Powers and Duties 
The Board of Ethics shall: 

a. Work in cooperation with the Office of Public Integrity to prepare an 
annual report for submission to the Mayor, City, Council, and Election 
Commission. The Board of Ethics may recommend improvements in 
addressing ethical behaviors for City elective officers, appointees, and 
employees in establishing standards of conduct, this Charter, City 
ordinances, and other laws or regulations, including procedures 
related to the administration and enforcement of those standards. 

b. Receive and resolve complaints arising under Article VII of this 
Charter. The Board of Ethics shall work in cooperation with the Office 
of Public Integrity to conduct investigations on its own initiative, 
subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony, require the 

47 



2024 Proposed Charter 

production of evidence relevant to a matter under investigation, 
appoint independent counsel when necessary, and to perform other 
functions essential to ensure the integrity of City government. 

c. Work with the Public Integrity Officer to provide training related to 
ethical standards for all elective officers, appointive officers, and 
employees. 

d. The Board of Ethics shall provide direct oversight over the Public 
Integrity Officer. 

7.305 Board of Ethics Funding 
The City shall annually appropriate funds sufficient to enable the Board of Ethics to 
perform its duties. Funding shall be in accordance with this Charter. 

ARTICLE VIII 

TRANSITIONAL PROVISIONS 

8.101 Effect on Existing City Legislation 
All ordinances and resolutions of the City and all orders, rules and regulations made 
by any officer or agency of the City which are not inconsistent with this Charter shall 
remain in effect, until changed by action taken under this Charter. 

The City's Attorney shall, as soon as practicable, recommend to the Council such 
changes as may be necessary to make the provisions of existing ordinances, 
resolutions, orders, rules, and regulations consistent with this Charter. 

8.102 Continuation of Public and Private Rights 
All writs, actions, suits, proceedings, civil or criminal liabilities, prosecutions, 
judgments, sentences, orders, decrees, appeals, causes of action, contracts, claims, 
demands, titles, and rights existing when this Charter takes effect shall continue 
unaffected except as modified in accordance with this Charter. 

8.103 Rights and Liabilities Continued 
At the time this Charter takes effect, all property, monies, contracts, rights, credits, 
effects, and records, files, books and papers of the City; all rights, liabilities or debts 
of the City; all suits or prosecutions of any character involving the City; all fines and 
penalties imposed and all taxes and assessments levied and uncollected and all 
licenses issued by the City shall be and remain the same as if such changes had not 
been made. However, when a new remedy is given in this Charter, or in any 
ordinance, which can be made applicable to any right existing at the time this 
Charter takes effect, it is cumulative to the remedies before provided, unless a 
newly provided remedy is declared exclusive. 

48 



2024 Proposed Charter 

8.104 Rights of Officers and Employees 
Except as otherwise provided by this Charter, no provision of this Charter shall 
affect or impair the rights or privileges of City officers or employee existing when 
this Charter takes effect with respect to appointment, ranks, grades, tenure of office, 
promotions, removal, pension, and retirement rights. 

8.105 Successor Officers 
When an office or department no longer exists and a reference is made to that 
discontinued office or department in ordinances, resolutions, rules, regulations, or 
orders which remain in effect under this Charter, the references shall be understood 
as meaning the officer or department which has succeeded to all or most of the 
functions of the discontinued office or department. 

8.106 Amendments and Revisions 
This Charter may be amended or revised as provided by law. 

8.107 Compensation 
Except as otherwise provided by ordinance and this Charter, the Mayor and Council 
shall remain compensated at existing levels prior to the effective date of this 
Charter, unless and until the compensation is changed by ordinance, this Charter or 
law. 

8.108 Headings 
The article, chapter and section headings of this Charter are provided merely for the 
convenience of the reader. They are not part of the Charter and shall be given no 
legal effect. 

8.109 Transitional Provision 
If any question concerning transition from the old Charter to this Charter (for which 
this Charter has not provided) arises, the City may provide for a resolution of the 
question by ordinance. 

ARTICLE IX 

SCHEDULE 

9.101 Electoral Vote and Effective Date 
(a) This Charter shall be submitted to the people of Pontiac for adoption at a 

special election to be held on August 6, 2024. 

(b) If this Charter is adopted, this Charter shall take effect on July April 1, 
~approval by the county board of canvassers and issuance of a certificate 
of election to the State of Michigan Office of the Great Seal and Oakland 
County Clerk 

49 



2024 Proposed Charter 

(c) Council and the Mayor serving in office under the previous Charter shall 
continue to serve under this Charter for their entire previously elected four 
( 4) year term, with the provisions for these elective offices taking effect for 
the next regular City election after adoption. 

9.102 Ballot Question 
This Charter shall be submitted to the electors on August 6, 2024, for adoption in 
the manner and with the effect prescribed by law as follows: · 

Shall the 2024 Charter proposed by the Pontiac Charter Revision 
Commission be adopted? 

Yes No_ 

50 



Changes to 2024 proposed Charter from draft of March 21, 2024 

04/03/24 Edits 

2.102 Elections 

R:egHlaf Gitj' pFimafj' and geAefal eleetieAs shall be held eA the same 
date as rngulaf state gubematefial pfimaFy aAd geAernl 
eleetiees.Regular Citv i;1rima1:y and general elections shall be held on 
Tuesday following the second Monday in August and Tuesday 
following the first Monday in November of odd years. Citv elections 
are non-i;1artisan. Gity eleetieAs shall eeem iA aeeerdaF1ee with state and 
fedeFal lav,'. Gitj• eleetieAs are Aefl: paftisafl:. 

2.112 Oath of Office 

Every elected officer and other officers as prescribed by ordinance shall, 
before entering upon their duties, take and subscribe the following oath: 

"I de selefflfll:',' s•Neaf EeF affiffflj that I will 
SHflfleFt the GeRstirutieA et the YRited 8tates aAd 
et this 8tate aRd the Ghaftef et the Gity et PeRtiae 
and that I 'Nill faithfully diseharge the dHties ef 
effiee te the best et my ability,! do solemnly 
swear (or affirm} that I will sui;1i;1ort the 
Constitution of the United States and the 
Constitution of this State, and that I will faithfully 
discharge the duties of the office of ........ 
according to the best of my ability." 

The oath, duly certified by the officer before whom it was taken, shall 
be filed in the office of the City Clerk. 

3.112 Ordinance Procedure 
(a) The enacting clause of all ordinances shall read, "The City of 
Pontiac ordains", but this clause may be omitted when the ordinances 
are published in a compilation. 

(b) Upon introduction, the Clerk shall distribute a copy to each Council 
member and to the Mayor, and shall file a reasonable number of copies 
in the office of the Clerk and such other public places as the Council 
may designate, and shall publish a COQY of the ordinance or a summaiy 
of the ordinance, detennined by the Clerk, by means established by 
ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the public in the City 
together with a notice of the time and place for consideration by the 
Council. Thereafter, the Council may amend and adopt the proposed 
ordinance without further pre-adoption publication. 

1 



( c) A proposed ordinance shall be introduced at a regularly scheduled 
Council meeting. Any ordinance shall require two readings by the 
Council and two opportunities for public comment at regularly 
scheduled Council meetings prior to being adopted. 

( d) The adoption of any ordinance by the Council shall require a 
majority of Council members serving. 

( e) The effective date of an ordinance shall be stated. The effective 
date shall not be less than 10 business days from the date of publication. 
No ordinance, except an emergency ordinance, shall be adopted on the 
same day that it is introduced. 

(f) An emergency ordinance, which shall contain a statement of its 
urgency, must be necessary for the immediate preservation of the public 
peace, property, health, safety or for the usual daily operation of a 
department. An emergency ordinance may be adopted on the day it is 
introduced, publication of a summary thereof before adoption is not 
required, and an emergency ordinance may be given immediate effect 
after posting of a notice of adoption at City hall and three other public 
places in the City, as detennined by the Clerk, who shall maintain a 
record of the locations of postings. Adoption of an emergency 
ordinance requires an affirmative vote of two-thirds of Council 
members serving. 

(g) Every ordinance or resolution of the Council, except quasi-judicial 
acts of the Council, appointments by the Council, matters relating to the 
internal organization of the Council or of a ceremonial nature, or such 
action as may be expressly exempted from veto by other sections of this 
Chatter, shall be presented by the Clerk to the Mayor within four ( 4) 
business days after adjournment of the meeting at which the ordinance 
or resolution is adopted. 

The Mayor, within seven (7) days of receipt of an ordinance or 
resolution, may return it to the Clerk with a veto and a written statement 
explaining the veto. However, with respect to an emergency ordinance, 
the Mayor shall notify the Council of a veto in any reasonable manner 
within 24 hours after the Mayor's office receives written notice from the 
Clerk that the emergency ordinance has been adopted. 

An ordinance or resolution vetoed by the Mayor can be reconsidered by 
the Council no later than the next regularly scheduled meeting after the 
receipt of the Mayor's veto. Five Council members may readopt the 
ordinance or resolution over the Mayor's veto. 

2 



(h) An ordinance shall be published once after its adoption in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City as provided in this Charter. 
Except for an emergency ordinance, such publication shall be before the 
ordinance's effective date. The Clerk shall certify on the record of 
ordinances the date and method of publication which shall be prima 
facie evidence that legal publication of an ordinance was made. 

(i) The Clerk shall maintain a record of all ordinances. After an 
ordinance is adopted, it shall be authenticated by the Clerk. The record 
and the authentication shall be done within one week after adoption of 
an ordinance, but failure to so record and authenticate an ordinance does 
not invalidate it or suspend its operation. 

(i) A repealed ordinance may not be revised, except by re-enactment of 
the whole or so much as is intended to be revived. When any section or 
part of ~ section of an ordinance is amended, the whole section as 
amended shall be re-enacted. 

(k) Prosecution for violation of an ordinance of the City shall be 
commenced within two (2) years after the commission of the offense. 
This limitation only applies to violations penal in nature, and is not a 
limitation of the City's right to forfeit any franchise, grant or license for 
violation of the te1ms and condition~ thereof. 

(I) A violation of an ordinance of the City shall be prosecuted as 
provided by law or ordinance. 

3.113 Transfer of City Property; Contracts 
The City may not sell, lease, exchange, or in any way dispose of any 
real property of the City without approval, after public notice and 
hearing, by resolution of the Council. The City may not sell any other 
personal property that may have been defined by ordinances as a minor, 
without approval by resolution of the Council. Nor may the City enter 
into a contract if there is not a sufficient unencumbered appropriation 
available to discharge fully the City's obligation thereunder, without 
approval by the Council. 

The City shall not sell, transfer, or divert to any other use park land 
unless approved by a majority of electors. Park land shall include any 
public park, public recreation area or public playground area owned by 
the City, within the City. 

3.116 Investigative Powers 
The Council may subpoena witnesses, administer oaths, take testimony 
and require the production of evidence in any matter pending before it. 

3 



4.101 

4.403 

5.102 

To enforce a subpoena or order for production of evidence or to impose 
any penalty prescribed for failure to obey a subpoena or order, the 
Council shall apply to the appropriate comt and/or appropriate board or 
commission and-empowered with investigative powers.,_--te--the 
appropriate board or commission. 

The Mayor 
The Mayor is the chief executive of the City and as provided by this 
Chatter, has charge of and is accountable for the executive branch of the 
City government. The Mayor shall serve a four (4) year tem1, 
commencing on the first business day after ce1tification of election by 
Oakland County. 

To be eligible for the office of Mayor, an individual: 

(a) Shall have established a primary residence in the City for 
tw&-one years immediately preceding the filing deadline 
for the office and shall maintain a primary City 
residence. 

(b) Shall be a registered elector within the City on the first 
day of the te1m in office and during the entire period of 
the term in office. 

Powers and Duties of Police Chief 
The Chief of Police or contracted law enforcement agency head is 
responsible for the public safety, peace and order and the enforcement 
of the criminal laws of Michigan and ordinances of the City,by 
ordinance. Other depaitments of the City may be given conctment 
enforcement jurisdiction for ordinances which cover technical fields of 
municipal operations. The Chief of Police or contracted law 
enforcement agency head shall define the duties of police officers and 
prescribe mies relative to the performance thereof. 

Mayoral Budget and Appropriation Ordinance 
At least seventy--five (75) days before the end of each fiscal year, the 
Mayor shall prepare and submit to the Council a proposed annual 
budget and proposed annual appropriation ordinance for the next fiscal 
year. To assist the Mayor in preparing such budget and ordinance, the 
departments of City government shall furnish the Mayor with detailed 
estimates of expenses, according to a classification which is nearly 
unifmm as possible. Proceedings on the proposed budget and the 
appropriation ordinance and the adoption thereof shall be as provided by 
law. 

4 



5.106 5.106 Interim Authority 
If Gity offieers fail to satisfy this reEtuirement, the Gouneil, on reEtuest in 
•.vritmg from the Mayor, may mal~e an a1313ro13riation fer a eepartmeat's 
eurrent e*penses to an amount suffieient to eo•1er the minimum 
neeessary e*penses of the affeetee department uatil the a1313ro13riation 
oreinanee is in foree, or may borro\v sueh money as may be neeessary 
therefer. 

5.107 5 .1 O+§_ Transfers and Su1;mlemental A1:mro12riations 
After adoption of the annual budget and appropriations ordinance, and 
upon at least one week's notice by means established by ordinance to 
achieve widespread dissemination to the public, the Council, is-in an 
ordinance supported by at least five (5) Council members, may amend 
such ordinance to authorize the transfer of an unused balance 
appropriated for one purpose to another purpose, or to appropriate 
available revenues not previously appropriated. 

5.205 Tax Limits 
The total amount of taxes which may be levied against prope1ty for City 
purposed in any one year shall not exceed $10.00 on each $1,000.00 of 
the assessed valuation. An additional tax of $1.50 on each $1,000.00 
assessed valuation may be levied for capital improvements or to pay 
principal and interest on bonds therefor; and a fmiher additional tax of 
$2.00 on each $1,000.00 of assessed valuation may be levied to be 
utilized for salaries .. benefits, or other expenses of firemen assignee to 
duty as required by 8eetion 4 .504 ofthis Gharter, in addistion to such 
other revenues as may be regularly utilized for those purposed~. The 
provisions of this section shall not prevent the levy and collection on the 
full amount of taxes required by law for the payment of debts. 

5.409 Publication 
The City Treasurer shall give notice tfl-ft-by means established by 
ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the public for six ( 6) 
business days immediately preceding July 1 that: (a) City property taxes 
may be paid at any time through August 31 without any collection fee 
therefor, and (b) an additional charge (and the amount thereof) will be 
made on September 1 and on the first day of each succeeding month 
during which taxes remain unpaid until return to the County Treasurer. 
Failure to give this notice shall not invalidate the tax, nor release the 
persons or prope1iy assessed from the penalty. 

5 



5.411 School and County Taxes 
On November 1, as provided by ordinance and in accordance with law, 
the City's Assessor shall spread upon the assessment roll as-fill_school 
and county taxes, certified by the Board of Commissioners or otherwise, 
and such other taxes as are legally required to be spread on the roll. 

5.416 Ai;mlicable Law 
Genernl baw shall go't•em the assessing, le•r:ying, eolleetion ane fetHm 
of tmces exeept as othenvise prnvieee by this Chartef. 

The assessment, levy, collection and return of taxes shall be governed 
consistent with this Charter and law. 

6.101 ,i\:ffo=mati•,•e AetionN on-Discrimination 
City government shall provide equal opportunity in employment for all 
persons; prohibit discrimination in employment because of race, color, 
religion, sex, age, national origin, handicap, marital status, sexual 
orientation, height, or weight. 

6.106 Conflict of Interest 
(a) Except as otherwise required by law: 

(1) An elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a 
conflict between personal interest and the public interest as 
defined by law, this Charter, or ordinance shall disclose fully to 
the City Attorney the nature of the conflict, who shall provide 
the Mayor, City Council, and the Office of Public Integri!y: with 
a summary of the stated conflict. Except as provided by law or 
ordinance, no elective officer, appointee, or employee of the 
City may participate in or act upon or vote upon any matter if a 
conflict of interest exists. 

(2) Any elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a 
1 % financial interest, direct or indirect Of b;• feason of 
ovmefShip of a 1 % amount of stoek in any eoFporntion, in any 
contract with the City or in the sale of any land, materials, 
supplies or services to the City or to a contractor supplying the 
City, shall make known that interest and shall refrain from 
voting upon or otherwise participating as an elective officer, 
appointee, or employee in the making or performance of the 
contract or sale. 

EJj :Violation of this stibseetion 1Nith the lffiowleege, expfess 
Of imphee, of the pefson Of eOFpOfation eontfaeting with or 
making a sale to the City shall feneef the eontraet Of sale 
. ' ,.1-1.1 - 1.. ~1--l\K-. ~1. - r,_ · --:1 

,..., .... ._ ..... .... --- ....... _, .... ........ ._ - _, . . . 

6 



(b) An elective City officer or an appointee who is a relative of an 
applicant for employment by the City being the individual's parent, 
grandparent, child, grandchild, sibling, or spouse thereof, shall 
immediately be disqualified from, and shall not paiticipate in any way 
in, the hiring process for that applicant. 
After complaint made by any City resident, refened to the Office of 
Public Integrity, and, if litigated, it is determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, that, in the hiring of any person, this provision 
was violated, the employment of such person shall be a nullity, and such 
violation shall be cause for a recall or dismissal of the City officer or 
appointee involved. ¥Hfthef, a Giey effieef ef appeintee ,,,ielating this 
prnvisien is gHilty ef a misdemeaner sHb:jeet tea fine ef$500.00, er 
irnpfisenment ef 90 days ef beth. The City Council shall adopt an 
ordinance providing for penalties for violation of this section. 

(e) l>Je eleeti•1e effieef shall held any appeinti•re pesitien, whieh •.vas 
efeated ef the eempensatien fef whieh was fofed ef inefeased dHfing his 
ef hef ineHmbeney, Hntil ene yeaf after sHeh pefseH 's lea'v•ing e:ffiee. 

6.107 Retirement Plans GentinHed 

The City may establish, by ordinance, its retirement plans consistent 
with law.,_ that dees net extend liability beyend the eHrrent fiseal yeaf. 
The existing governing bodies for administering those plans, the benefit 
schedules for those plans, and the te1ms for accrning rights to and 
receiving benefits under those plans shall have efdinanee status remain 
under this Charter. 

6.302 Emergency Rules 

Netwithstanding the J3feeeding seetien, in the ease ef an emergeney 
defined by state law deelafed in wfiting by the Mayef ef the Getteeil, a 
J3f8J3esed mle may be gi•reH effeet fef a :13efied net te e~rneed 60 days 
:13ending eem:13letiee ef the Feqttifed :13rneedttfeCity Council shall adopt 
by ordinance a procedure for emergency rnles. 

6.402 Duties of Council and Petitions 

If such certificate shows that the number of registered electors signing 
the-is not less than 10% but less than ef equal te 15% of the electors 
voting at the preceding Presidential election, the Council shall within 20 
days thereafter either: 

(a) adopt the ordinance without alteration (subject to the 
referendum provided by Charter); or 

7 



6.408 

6.409 

6.513 

6.701 

6.802 

(b) at the next election to be held in accordance with state 
law, the proposed ordinance shall be submitted without 
alteration to the voters. 

6.40&1 State Law to Apply 
The fom1 of petition and the conduct of the electoral vote for initiative 
and referendum measures shall, as near as may be, be the same as that 
provided by law for exercise of initiative and referendum by State 
electors. 

6.409~ Effect of Vote 
An ordinance approved by electoral vote shall not thereafter be repealed 
or amended by the Council for 18 months, except by electoral vote. 

Restrictions on Transfer of Municipality Owned Utilities 
The City may make a contract to purchase, operate and maintain any 
public utility property for supplying heat, light, power, or water to the 
City and its inhabitants. No contract to sell or h·ansfer aHEl-~City utility 
shall bind the City unless a proposition therefor receives the affirmative 
vote of 3/5 of the electors voting thereon at a regular or special election. 

Severability 
If any provision of this Charter ef.or the application thereof to any 
person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity shall not affect 
other provision§. or applications of the Charter. 

Establishment and Purpose 
(a) The City of Pontiac shall establish and maintain various boards and 
commissions to advise, assist, and oversee specific areas of municipal 
governance. These bodies shall serve as essential components of the 
City's decision-making and policy development process. Boards and 
commissions may be established by Ordinance and in accordance with 
provisions within this Charter. 

(b) Boards and commissions may be created to address various areas of 
municipal governance, including but not limited to: Planning 
Commission, Arts Commission, Historical Commission, Parks and 
Recreation Commission, and other matters of municipal concern. A 
process for establishing and eliminating boards and commissions shall 
be defined by ordinance passed by Council. Unless othe1wise 
empowered by this Charter, ordinances, or law, all boards and 
commissions are advisory. 

8 



( c) Unless otheiwise provided, all members of boards and commissions 
shall serve without compensation as members thereof. Reimbursement, 
stipends or other payment mechanisms may be allowed for City 
trainings, meals, or other required needs as pa1t of their official duties. 

Ea) AU eeaFas aaa eemmissieRs e1,istiag at the time ef the aaeptiea e:f 
this Ghartef shall be eeRtim:1ea aHa the memeeFs seFYiHg theFeeH shall 
rnmaiH iH effiee fuf the aurntieH ef the tem1 fuF 1.vhieh they wefe 
appeiHtea. 

6.805 Powers and Responsibilities 

(a) The board and commission shall have the authority to conduct 
studies, research, and hearings related to their respective areas of 
responsibility. The board and commission may make recommendations 
to the Council and other City officials on relevant policy matters and 
other issues as they deem necessary. 

(b) The board and commission shall operate in accordance with this 
Charter and any specific enabling ordinances or resolutions established 
by the Council. They shall not have legislative or executive powers but 
shall serve in an advisory capacity, unless othe1wise provided in this 
Chatter or law. 

( c) The Council reserves the right to dissolve or modify the powers and 
responsibilities of any board or commission as prnviaea by establishing 
eFaiHaHeesubject to this Charter. 

6.808 Youth Commission 
The Council may establish a Youth Commission by ordinance for 
individuals between 13-18 years old at time of appointment~-with 
appeiHtees •Nith twe E2j yeaf teFms eligible fuf FeappeiHtmeHt +he 
puffJese ef the Yeuth GemmissieH maJ' ee te aiseuss pelieJ' iss1:1es that 
af:feet yeuth in the Gi~•, iHelusi•,•e ef iaeHtifyiHg a J'euth peliey platfuFm, 
aHa iaeHtifyiHg leaaeFship pathways fuf yeuth in Giey geveFameHt. 
FeFmal rnles en the Yeuth Gemmissien will be rntatea evef)' twe E2) 
yeaflr. 

7.101 Ethical Standards of Conduct 
These standards of conduct apply to public servants including the 
Mayor, Council members, appointive officers, appointees, employees 
and contracted entities and their employees working on behalf of the 
City, as defined in this Charter. The purpose of applying and enforcing 
these standards is to ensure that governmental decisions are made in the 
public's best interest by prohibiting City officials and employees from 
pa1ticipating in matters that impact their personal or financial interests. 

9 



All City ordinances not inconsistent with these sections and that 
effectuate its operation may be retained. Ordinances may be enacted 
which are necessary to effectuate the operation of these sections. No 
ordinance shall be enacted which limits, contradicts, or otherwise 
conflicts with the intent and purpose of these sections. 

Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL 
§ 15 .328, a public servant shall not knowingly: 

a. Willfully or grossly neglect the discharge of their duties; 
b. Use or disclose confidential information concerning the 

property, government or affairs of the City or any office, 
department, or agency thereof, not available to members 
of the public and gained by reason of their official 
position; 

c. Use prope1iy of the City except in accordance with 
policies and procedures of the City; 

d. Engage in or accept private employment or render 
services when such employment or service is in conflict 
or incompatible with the proper discharge of their official 
duties or would tend to impair their independence of 
judgment or action in the perfmmance of official duties; 

e. Represent a private person, business or organization in 
any action or proceeding pending before the City or any 
office, department, or agency thereof, except: 
i. A public servant may represent another person, 

business, or organization before a City agency 
where such representation is a required pait of his 
or her official duties. 

ii. 

iii. 

A public servant who is an uncompensated 
member of a City board, commission or other 
voting body may act as an agent, attorney or 
representative for another person, business or 
organization in a matter that is pending before a 
City agency, other than the board, commission, or 
other voting body on which they are a member; or 
A public servant who is compensated by the City 
may act as an agent, attorney or representative for 
another person, business or organization in a 
matter that is pending before a City board, 
commission or other voting body, other than the 
board, commission or other voting body on which 
he or she serves as an appointee or an employee 
or under a personal services contract, as long as 



they do so without compensation and on their 
leave time. 

f. Vote regarding or otherwise paiiicipate in the negotiation 
of the making of any City contract, or any other type of 
transaction, with any business entity in which they or an 
immediate family member has a financial interest; or 

g. Use their official position, in violation of applicable law, 
to improperly influence a decision of the Mayor, Council 
members, appointees or employees. 

A public servant in the course of their duties shall not: 

a. Solicit or accept a loan, payment or gift from an 
individual who is providing service to, receiving tax 
abatements, credits or exemptions from the City; or 

b. Unduly influence any decision to fill a position in City 
government with an immediate family member. 

7.102 Disclosures 
Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL 
§ I 5.328, a public servant shall disclose: 

ill Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an 
immediate family member has in any contract or matter 
pending before Council; 

ill Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an 
immediate family member has in any contract or matter 
pending before or within any office, department, or 
agency of the City; 

ill Any interest that they, or an immediate family member 
has in real and personal property that is subject to a 
decision by the City regarding purchase, sale, lease, 
zoning, improvement, special designation tax assessment 
or abatement or a development agreement; 

ffi Campaign contributions and expenditures, regarding City 
proposals or City elections, in accordance with 
applicable laws; or 

ill The identity of any immediate family member employed 
by the City or who is making application to the City. 

In addition to compliance with the above section, contractors 
and vendors shall disclose: 

a. The identity of all entities and persons with any financial 
interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or matter the 
vendor or contractor has pending before Council; and 

11 



7.105 

7.106 

7.202 

b. The identity of all entities and persons with any financial 
interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or matter the 
vendor or contractor has pending before or within any 
office, department or agency of the City. 

The above disclosures shall be made in writing and be made by 
sworn, notarized affidavit, in accordance with City ordinance 
and applicable laws. 

One Year Post-Employment Prohibition 
Subject to law, including MCL § 15.328, for one (1) year after 
employment with the City, a public servant shall not lobby or appear 
before the Council or any City department, agency, board, commission, 
or body or receive compensation for any services in connection with any 
matter in which he or she was directly concerned, personally 
paiiicipated, actively considered or acquired knowledge while working 
for the City. 

Subject to law, for a period of one (1) year after employment with the 
City, a public servant shall not accept employment with any person or 
company that did business with the City during the f01mer public 
servant's tenure if that public servant was in any way involved in the 
award or management of that contract or the employment would require 
the sharing of confidential information. 

Contracts Voidable and Rescindable 
Subject to law, including MCL § 15.328, +!he City shall include 
language in its standard contract f01ms which provides that City 
contracts shall be voidable or rescindable at the discretion of the Mayor 
and Council at any time if a public servant who is a party to the contract 
has an interest in such contract and fails to disclose such interest,. and 
8§.uch contract§. shall-may also be voidable or rescindable if a lobbyist 
or employee of the contracting party offers a prohibited gift, gratuity, 
honoraria, or payment to a public servant.,_ in relations to the contract. If 
applicable, the actions of the contractor, and its representative lobbyist 
or employee, shall be refe1nd to the appropriate prosecuting authorities. 

Appointment, Removal, Te1m of Office, and Vacancy 
a. The Public Integrity Officer shall be appointed by a majority of 
Council members with concurrence of the Mayor in writing within 5 
days of Council approval serving for a term of six ( 6) years. 

b. The Public Integrity Officer may be removed for cause by a three
fomihs (3/4) vote of Council members serving. The Public Integrity 

12 



Officer may only be removed from the office for cause, as outlined in 
Section 6.108. 

c. If a vacancy occurs in the Office of Public Integrity, the Council 
shall, within ninety (90) days, fill the office for a full te1m. 

d. This position is subject to recall provisions as outlined in this City 
Charter. 

13 



04/05/24 Edits 

3.105 Meetings 
+he Gemieil shall meet at sHeh times as pFeseFiaee BJ' eFEiiHa1:1ee ef 
FeselHtieH, e:irnept that it shall meet FegHlafl'.Y' net less thaH twiee peF 
meHth. +he MayeF, ef aHy i'Ne fij memaefs et the GeHHeil may eall 
speeial meetings et the Geimeil, pestee iH aeeeFEia1:1ee •.vith the MiehigaH 
Gpea MeetiHgs Aet, aHEi •.vfitteH aetiee is gi•v<eH te eaeh memaef, aee te 
the Mayef aHEi 9epl:lty Mayef, seF¥ee peFse1:1ally, eleetrnHieally, ef left 
at the iHEii~•iel:lal plaee et fesieeHee at least eighteeH El in hel:lfS f)fief te 
the meetiag time. Hewever, aHy speeial meeti1:1g at •,•1hieh all memaefs 
et the Getmeil afe pFeseHt ef have gi•v<eH 'Nfittee eeHse1:1t shall be a legal 
meetiHg fuf all puFpeses set furth iH the netiee. All Council meetings 
shall be held in comnliance with the Onen Meetings Act, MCL 15.261 
et seg., as amended. The Council shall meet at such times as nrescribed 
bx ordinance or resolution, excent that it shall meet regularlx not less 
than twice ner month. The Mayor, or any two (2} members of the 
Council may call snecial meetings of the Council, with written notice to 
each member, and to the Mayor and Degutv Mayor, served nersonally, 
electronically, or left at the individual glace of residence at least 
eighteen (18} hours nrior to the meeting time. However, any snecial 
meeting at which all members of the Council are nresent or have given 
grior written waiver of the notification reguirement, shall be a legal 
meeting for all gumoses set forth in the notice. 

3.106 Public Access; Rules 
As provided by law, all meetings of the Council shall be public and any 
citizen may have access to the minutes and records thereof at all 
reasonable times. 

The Council shall detennine its own rules and order of business and 
shall keep a journal off its proceedings, in English and reproduced in 
Spanish. 

All records of the Ci!Y shall be gublic and 02en to insQection at all 
reasonable times, subject to and in accordance with the Freedom of 
Infonnation Act, MCL 15.231 et seg., as amended. 

3.112 Ordinance Procedure 
(a) The enacting clause of all ordinances shall read, "The City of 
Pontiac ordains", but this clause may be omitted when the ordinances 
are published in a compilation. 

14 



(b) Upon introduction, the Clerk shall distribute a copy to each Council 
member and to the Mayor, and shall file a reasonable number of copies 
in the office of the Clerk and such other public places as the Council 
may designate, and shall publish a copy of the ordinance or a summary 
of the ordinance, dete1mined by the Clerk, by means established by 
ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to the public in the City 
together with a notice of the time and place for consideration by the 
Council. Thereafter, the Council may amend and adopt the proposed 
ordinance without further pre-adoption publication. 

( c) A proposed ordinance, including an ordinance to repeal an existing 
ordinance, shall be introduced at a regularly scheduled Council meeting. 
Any ordinance shall require two readings by the Council and two 
opportunities for public comment at regularly scheduled Council 
meetings prior to being adopted. 

( d) The adoption of any ordinance by the Council shall require a 
majority of Council members serving. 

( e) The effective date of an ordinance shall be stated. The effective 
date shall not be less than 10 business days from the date of publication. 
No ordinance, except an emergency ordinance, shall be adopted on the 
same day that it is introduced. 

(f) An emergency ordinance, which shall contain a statement of its 
urgency, must be necessaiy for the immediate preservation of the public 
peace, property, health, safety or for the usual daily operation of a 
department. An emergency ordinance may be adopted on the day it is 
introduced, publication of a summary thereof before adoption is not 
required, and an emergency ordinance may be given immediate effect 
after posting of a notice of adoption at City hall and three other public 
places in the City, as detemiined by the Clerk, who shall maintain a 
record of the locations of postings. Adoption of an emergency 
ordinance requires an affirmative vote of two-thirds of Council 
members serving. 

(g) Every ordinance or resolution of the Council, except quasi-judicial 
acts of the Council, appointments by the Council, matters relating to the 
internal organization of the Council or of a ceremonial nature, or such 
action as may be expressly exempted from veto by other sections of this 
Charter, shall be presented by the Clerk to the Mayor within four ( 4) 
business days after adjournment of the meeting at which the ordinance 
or resolution is adopted. 

The Mayor, within seven (7) days of receipt of an ordinance or 
resolution, may return it to the Clerk with a veto and a written statement 

15 



4.202 

explaining the veto. However, with respect to an emergency ordinance, 
the Mayor shall notify the Council of a veto in any reasonable maimer 
within 24 hours after the Mayor's office receives written notice from the 
Clerk that the emergency ordinance has been adopted. 

An ordinance or resolution vetoed by the Mayor can be reconsidered by 
the Council no later than the next regularly scheduled meeting after the 
receipt of the Mayor's veto. Five Council members may readopt the 
ordinance or resolution over the Mayor's veto. 

(h) An ordinance shall be published once after its adoption in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the City as provided in this Charter. 
Except for an emergency ordinance, such publication shall be before the 
ordinance's effective date. The Clerk shall certify on the record of 
ordinances the date and method of publication which shall be prima 
facie evidence that legal publication of an ordinance was made. 

(i) The Clerk shall maintain a record of all ordinances. After an 
ordinance is adopted, it shall be authenticated by the Clerk. The record 
and the authentication shall be done within one week after adoption of 
an ordinance, but failure to so record and authenticate an ordinance does 
not invalidate it or suspend its operation. 

U) A repealed ordinance may not be revised, except by re-enactment of 
the whole or so much as is intended to be revived. When any section or 
part of E!_Section of an ordinance is amended, the whole section as 
amended shall be re-enacted. 

(k) Prosecution for violation of an ordinance of the City shall be 
commenced within two (2) years after the commission of the offense. 
This limitation only applies to violations penal in nature, and is not a 
limitation of the City's right to forfeit any franchise, grant or license for 
violation of the terms and condition~ thereof. 

(l) A violation of an ordinance of the City shall be prosecuted as 
provided by law or ordinance. 

Duties of City Attorney 
The City Attorney is responsible for: 

a) Supervising the conduct of all the legal business of the 
City and its departments; 

b) May draft ordinance proposals and approve language as 
to form as directed by Council; 

16 



c) Preparing and advising on leases, deeds, contracts, or 
other papers as may be required by the Mayor, Council 
or any depaitment; 

d) Furnishing written legal opinions when requested by the 
Mayor, the Council or any depaitment; 

e) Instituting and conducting, on behalf of the People, all 
cases arising from the provisions of this Charter or 
ordinances and, when authorized by law, cases under the 
state law; 

f) Defending all actions or proceedings against the City; 
g) Prosecuting all civil actions to which the City is a party 

or in which the City has an interest, when directed to do 
so by the Mayor; notice of any such action shall 
immediately be given to the Council; 

h) Representing any elective officer or appointee of the City 
in any action or proceeding involving any action or 
proceeding involving official duties; 

i) Ensuring that all laws, this Charter, and ordinances are 
legally executed and enforced; 

j) Attending meetings of the Council as requested by 
Mayor or Council; and 

k) Performing other duties assigned by resolution. 

5.301 5.301 Accounting 
Accounts shall be kept by the Finance Department or contracted agency 
showing all assets and liabilities of the City and the financial 
transactions for all departments of the City. The accounts and the forms 
therefor shall conform to any uniform system required by law or 
ordinance. Financial reports shall be prepared for each month, each 
quarter, and each fiscal year.:. Those financial reports shall be provided 
to the Mayor and the Council. 

5.302 Payments 
Payments by the City shall be made only in accordance with procedures 
prescribed by ordinance. 

Each draft, check, order or warrant shall specify the fund from which it 
is payable. The Finance Director or contracted agency head shall 
examine all payrolls, bills and other claims and demands against the 
City, except claims for unliquidated damages, and shall make no 
payment unless the Finance Director find§. that: (a) the claim is in proper 
form, conectly computed and duly ce1tified, and justly and legally due 
and payable; (b) an appropriation has been made therefor which has not 
been exhausted or that the payment has been othe1wise legally 
authorized; and ( c) there is money in the City treasury to make payment. 

17 



The Finance Director may investigate any claim, and for such purposes, 
may examine witnesses under oath. If the Finance Director finds such 
bill, claim or demand is fraudulent, e1TOneous or othe1wise invalid, the 
Finance Director shall not pay without authorization by resolution of the 
Council. 

All payments shall have two authorized signatures to be valid. 

6.101 Affimlative AetieeN on-Discrimination 
City government shall provide equal opportunity in employment for all 
persons and shall comgly with the grovisions of the Elliott-Larsen Civil 
Rights Act, MCL §37.2101, as amended; 13rehieit eiserimiaatiea ia 
effif)leymeat eeeattse e:f raee, eeler, religiea, se*, age, aatieaal erigia, 
haaeiea13, mafital stattts, se~Hial erieatatiea, height, er •.veight. 

6.106 Conflict of Interest 
(a) Except as othe1wise required by law, and subject to limitations 
ofMCL §15.328, as amended: 

(1) An elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a 
conflict between personal interest and the public interest as 
defined by law, this Charter, or ordinance shall disclose fully to 
the City Attorney the nature of the conflict, who shall grovide 
the Mayor, Citv Council, and the Office of Public Integrity with 
a summaty of the stated conflict. Except as provided by law or 
ordinance, no elective officer, appointee, or employee of the 
City may participate in or act upon or vote upon any matter if a 
conflict of interest exists. 

(2) Any elective officer, appointee, or employee who has a 
1 % financial interest, direct or indirect er ey reasea ef 
ev1aeFShi13 e:f a 1 % amettRt e:f steek is aay eeff)eratiea, in any 
contract with the City or in the sale of any land, materials, 
supplies or services to the City or to a contractor supplying the 
City, shall make known that interest aoo-to the City Attorney the 
nature of the conflict, who shall grovide the Mayor, Citv 
Council, and the Office of Public Integritv with a summary of 
the stated conflict. Such elective officer, aggointee or emgloyee 
shall refrain from voting upon or otherwise participating as an 
elective officer, appointee, or employee in the making or 
performance of the contract or sale. 

E~j ¥ielatiea e:f this sHeseetiea with the k:ne:wleege, e~E:13ress 
er implies, e:f the 13ersea er eeff)erntiea eeatfaetiag with er 
makiag a sale te the City shall reader the eeatraet er sale 
. • ..J_ t. 1 - t. •I.. - }.,r __ - - •I.. - r, _ :, . ·- - ..., ... _ ... 

18 



(b) An elective City officer or an appointee who is a relative of an 
applicant for employment by the City being the individual's parent, 
grandparent, child, grandchild, sibling, or spouse thereof, shall 
immediately be disqualified from, and shall not pa1ticipate in any way 
in, the hiring process for that applicant. 
After complaint made by any City resident, refened to the Office of 
Public Integrity, and, if litigated, it is determined by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, that, in the hiring of any person, this provision 
was violated, the employment of such person shall be a nullity,.,_ and 
sooh-In addition violation shall be cause for a recall or the dismissal of 
the appointed City officer or appointee employee involved. Further, a 
Gity officer or appointee 1f'iolating this provision is guilty o:f a 
misdemeanor subject to a fine o:f $500.00, or imprisonment o:f 90 days 
or aoth. The Ci!,y Council shall adoQt an ordinance Qroviding for 
Qenalties for violation of this section. 

(c) 11-fo electi•1e officer shall hold anj' appointive position, 1Nhich was 
created or the compensation fer •t11hich ,.-.,as fixed or increased during his 
or her incumaeHcy, uHtil one year after such persoH's lea•1ing office. 

6.107 Retirement Plans Gontinued 
The City may establish, by ordinance, its retirement plans consistent 
with law.,_ that does not extend liaaility beyond the current fiscal year. 
The existing governing bodies for administering those plans, the benefit 
schedules for those plans, and the te1ms for accruing rights to and 
receiving benefits under those plans shall have ordinance status remain 
under this after the effective date of this Charter. 

6.406 Publication 
Whenever an ordinance is required to be submitted to an electoral vote, 
the Council shall have the ordinance published by the City Clerk by 
means established by ordinance to achieve widespread dissemination to 
the public -i-ft-each week for two (2) successive weeks immediately 
preceding the election. 

7.101 Ethical Standards of Conduct 
These standards of conduct apply to public servants including the 
Mayor, Council members, appointive officers, appointees, employees 
and contracted entities and their employees working on behalf of the 
City, as defined in this Charter. The purpose of applying and enforcing 
these standards is to ensure that governmental decisions are made in the 
public's best interest by prohibiting City officials and employees from 
participating in matters that impact their personal or financial interests. 

19 



All City ordinances not inconsistent with these sections and that 
effectuate its operation may be retained. Ordinances may be enacted 
which are necessary to effectuate the operation of these sections. No 
ordinance shall be enacted which limits, contradicts, or otherwise 
conflicts with the intent and purpose of these sections. 

Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL 
§15.328, a public servant shall not knowingly: 

h. Willfully or grossly neglect the discharge of their duties; 
1. Use or disclose confidential inf01mation concerning the 

property, government or affairs of the City or any office, 
department, or agency thereof, not available to members 
of the public and gained by reason of their official 
position; 

J. Use property of the City except in accordance with 
policies and procedures of the City; 

k. Engage in or accept private employment or render 
services when such employment or service is in conflict 
or incompatible with the proper discharge of their official 
duties or would tend to impair their independence of 
judgment or action in the performance of official duties; 

l. Represent a private person, business or organization in 
any action or proceeding pending before the City or any 
office, department, or agency thereof, except: 
i. A public servant may represent another person, 

business, or organization before a City agency 
where such representation is a required part of his 
or her official duties. 

ii. A public servant who is an uncompensated 
member of a City board, commission or other 
voting body may act as an agent, attorney or 
representative for another person, business or 
organization in a matter that is pending before a 
City agency, other than the board, commission, or 
other voting body on which they are a member; or 

iii. A public servant who is compensated by the City 
may act as an agent, attorney or representative for 
another person, business or organization in a 
matter that is pending before a City board, 
commission or other voting body, other than the 
board, commission or other voting body on which 
he or she serves as an appointee or an employee 
or under a personal services contract, as long as 
they do so without compensation and on their 
leave time. 

20 



m. Vote regarding or otherwise participate in the negotiation 
of the making of any City contract, or any other type of 
transaction, with any business entity in which they or an 
immediate family member has a financial interest; or 

n. Use their official position, in violation of applicable law, 
to improperly influence a decision of the Mayor, Council 
members, appointees or employees.,-; or 

A public seP1ant in the course of their duties shall not: 

o. Solicit or accept a loan, payment or gift from an 
individual who is providing service to, receiving tax 
abatements, credits or exemptions from the City; or 

p. Unduly influence any decision to fill a position in City 
government with an immediate family member. 

7.102 Disclosures 

(a) Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, including MCL 
§ 15 .328, a public servant shall disclose: 

(fil Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an 
immediate family member has in any contract or matter 
pending before Council; 

ill Any financial interest, direct or indirect, that they or an 
immediate family member has in any contract or matter 
pending before or within any office, department, or 
agency of the City; 

ill Any interest that they, or an immediate family member 
has in real and personal property that is subject to a 
decision by the City regarding purchase, sale, lease, 
zoning, improvement, special designation tax assessment 
or abatement or a development agreement; 

{21 Campaign contributions and expenditures, regarding City 
proposals or City elections, in accordance with 
applicable laws; or 

QQ} The identity of any immediate family member employed 
by the City or who is making application to the City. 

(b) In addition to compliance with the above section, contractors 
and vendors shall disclose: 

ill The identity of all entities and persons with any financial 
interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or matter the 
vendor or contractor has pending before Council; and 

ill The identity of all entities and persons with any financial 
interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or matter the 

21 



vendor or contractor has pending before or within any 
office, department or agency of the City. 

(c) The above disclosures shall be made in writing and be made by sworn, 
notarized affidavit, in accordance with City ordinance and applicable laws. 

7.303 Rules and Procedures 
(a) At the initial board meeting, the City Clerk shall convene the 
meeting and the first order of business will be for a Board Chair to be 
elected by a majority of the board. The term of board chair shall be at 
least two (2) years. 

(b) The Board of Ethics shall adopt its own rules and procedures 
consistent with ordinances, this Charter and law. 

(c) All meetings of the Board of Ethics shall be subject to the Michigan 
Open Meetings Act MCL 15.261, et al. , aAd epeA te the pt1elie t1Aless aA 
iAdividt:ial iAvelved iA the matteF te ee addFessed FeEJltests iA WFitiAg that 
the meeting ee elesed, er t1nless ethenvise prnvided ey eFdinaAee aAd 
eensistent with state law. 

( d) The Board of Ethics shall be supported by the Office of Public 
Integrity and Public Integrity Officer. 

9.101 Electoral Vote and Effective Date 
(a) This Charter shall be submitted to the people of Pontiac for 

adoption at a special election to be held on August 6, 2024. 

(b) If this Chatter is adopted, this Charter shall take effect on JH.ly 
ApRl l, W2':Sam:1roval by the councy board of canvassers and 
issuance of a certificate of election to the State of Michigan 
Office of the Great Seal and Oakland Councy Clerk. 

(c) Council and the Mayor serving in office under the previous 
Charter shall continue to serve under this Charter for their entire 
previously elected four ( 4) year te1m, with the provisions for 
these elective offices taking effect for the next regular City 
election after adoption. 

22 



04/11/24 Edits 

6.402 Duties of Council and Petitions 
If such certificate shows that the number of registered electors of the 
.c.i.!y_signing the-is not less than 10% but less than or equal to 15% of the 
registered electors of the City voting at the preceding Presidential 
election, the Council shall within 20 days thereafter either: 

(a) adopt the ordinance without alteration (subject to the 
referendum provided by Charter); or 

(b) at the next election to be held in accordance with state 
law, the proposed ordinance shall be submitted without 
alteration to the voters. 

6.403 Referendum 
No ordinance, except an emergency ordinance, shall take effect before 
10 days after adoption. If, within these 10 days, 500 registered electors 
of the City file with the Clerk a notice in writing of their intention to 
circulate a petition for refening the ordinance to the electors for their 
adoption or rejection, then the ordinance does not become effective until 
20 days after its adoption. If, within these 20 days, petitions containing 
the number of signatures required by this Chatter are not filed in 
accordance with such written notice, the ordinance shall become 
effective upon the expiration of the 20-day period. If, within the 20 
days, however, petitions protesting the ordinance signed by registered 
electors of the City equal in number to at least 10% of the registered 
electors of the City voting at the preceding Gity-prresidential election 
are presented to the Council, the ordinance is suspended from taking 
effect. The Council shall immediately reconsider the ordinance. If the 
ordinance is not entirely repealed, the Council shall submit it to an 
electoral vote at the next scheduled election in the Jdty, and the 
ordinance shall not take effect unless approved by a majority of the 
registered electors voting thereon. These referendum provisions do not 
apply to : 

(a) an ordinance required, or exempted from referendum, by 
law or this Charter; 

(b) an emergency ordinance: however, grant of a franchise 
may not be deemed an emergency ordinance. 

23 


	20240412172934130_0001
	20240412172934130_0002
	20240412172934130_0003

